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About Kazia Therapeutics Limited  
 
Kazia Therapeutics Limited (ASX: KZA, NASDAQ: KZIA) is an innovative oncology-focused 
biotechnology company, based in Sydney, Australia. Our pipeline includes two clinical-stage 
drug development candidates, and we are working to develop therapies across a range of 
oncology indications.  
 
Our lead program is GDC-0084, a small molecule inhibitor of the PI3K / AKT / mTOR pathway, 
which is being developed to treat glioblastoma multiforme, the most common and most 
aggressive form of primary brain cancer in adults. Licensed from Genentech in late 2016, GDC-
0084 entered a phase II clinical trial in March 2018. Initial data is expected in early calendar 
2019. GDC-0084 was granted orphan designation for glioblastoma by the US FDA in February 
2018. 
 
TRX-E-002-1 (Cantrixil), is a third-generation benzopyran molecule with activity against cancer 
stem cells, and is being developed to treat ovarian cancer. TRX-E-002-1 is currently 
undergoing a phase I clinical trial in Australia and the United States. Initial data was presented 
in June 2018 and the study remains ongoing. Cantrixil was granted orphan designation for 
ovarian cancer by the US FDA in April 2015. 
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 Kazia is a new company, with great 
potential in its pipeline, a clear strategy 
to realise value for shareholders, and 
a lean team with the experience and 
expertise to deliver benefit to patients.
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Chairman’s  
Letter FY2018 

A focus on delivery
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It is a pleasure to write to you at the 
end of our first financial year as Kazia 
Therapeutics Limited. This report 
reflects the pride all of us involved 
with the Company feel in relation to 
its progress over the past year. We 
believe that Kazia has emerged as a 
credible and exciting company in the 
Australian biotech sector, and the 
matters summarized in this report 
attest to its achievements and its 
potential.

This time last year, we had one phase 
I clinical trial underway. Kazia is now a 
mid-clinical-stage company, with two 
high-value programs in international 
clinical trials under the oversight of 
the US FDA. Our GDC-0084 program, 
which was licensed from Genentech 
approximately 18 months ago, has 
continued to secure the engagement 
of a number of the leading global 
experts in brain cancer, and we are 
very grateful for the commitment of 
clinicians towards the ongoing phase 
II clinical trial. In the meantime, our 
phase I study of Cantrixil as a potential 
treatment for ovarian cancer has 
begun to yield data, and we look 
forward to sharing further progress as 
that study moves toward completion.

These headline accomplishments 
are augmented by the enormous 
amount of work that continues 
behind the scenes to optimise the 
efficiency of Kazia as a business. As 
can be seen from the accompanying 
financial statements, the general 
and administrative expenditure of 
the company has been decreased 
by 40% to $5.6 million in FY2018, 
with the majority of these savings 
being realized in the second half. 
These savings are a direct result of 
the corporate transformation efforts 

that have been underway over the last 
eighteen months and they represent 
the determination of your Board to 
devote Kazia’s resources to clinical 
work that can serve patients and drive 
commercial outcomes. 

Among other initiatives, the Company 
has moved to less expensive premises 
in Sydney, non-core programs have 
been divested, and the organization 
has been carefully streamlined as 
the business needs have evolved. 
The investment in R&D remains 
substantially unchanged, but we now 
have two assets in the clinic rather 
than the one in the prior year. Despite 
this investment being sustained, 
the operating cash outflows of the 
organization have reduced by more 
than $3m, demonstrating prudent 
operating efficiency.

We hold more than $13 million in 
readily realisable assets, as at 30 
June, including our holdings in 
Noxopharm Limited, and as I noted in 
my comments relating to the half-year 
report, these resources should see 
us comfortably into the first half of 
calendar 2019.

Nevertheless, the long-term financing 
of the Company remains a key priority 
for your Board. In July 2018, we filed 
an F-3 ‘shelf’ registration with the US 
Securities and Exchange Commission. 
The F-3 allows us to place up to 
US$ 100 million of NASDAQ securities 
over the next three years, subject of 
course to our placement capacity in 
both the US and Australia. I would 
reiterate that we have no concrete 
plan to use it, and we certainly don’t 
imagine using it to the full extent of its 
capacity, but it gives us an important 
tool with which to engage the interest 
of US-based investors.

Our commitment to shareholders is that 
your interests will be conscientiously 
safeguarded as we consider all options to 
take the Company forward.

In the second half of calendar 2018, we 
have been stepping up our discussions 
and outreach with institutional 
investors, in Australia, Europe, and 
the United States. Our overriding 
priority is to ensure that Kazia has 
the financial security to continue 
delivering value from its product 
pipeline. It has been over three years 
since the Company last raised money, 
and an enormous amount has been 
achieved with those funds. It is likely 
however that additional funding 
will be required in the next financial 
year to maintain progress in building 
pipeline value. Our commitment to 
shareholders is that your interests 
will be conscientiously safeguarded 
as we consider all options to take 
the Company forward. Each of your 
directors are shareholders and have 
bought their entire holdings on the 
open market, and we share your 
desire to balance the needs of existing 
shareholders with the opportunities 
created by attracting new investment.

In summary, I would like to thank my 
fellow directors, Bryce Carmine and 
Steven Coffey, for their dedicated 
service to the Company, and to 
commend our CEO, Dr James Garner, 
and his management team, for their 
professionalism, commitment, and 
determination. We are grateful for the 
support of our shareholders, and I look 
forward to meeting you at the Annual 
General Meeting and throughout the 
year ahead.

Iain Ross 
Chairman of the Board
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

This has been an important year for 
Kazia, and the entire management 
team is gratified by the progress made.

In March 2018, we announced 
commencement of a phase II clinical 
trial for our flagship program, GDC-
0084. This study ultimately aims to 
demonstrate GDC-0084 is an effective 
potential treatment for glioblastoma, 
the most common and most aggressive 
form of primary brain cancer. If the 
study is successful, we believe it 
may provide a basis for ‘accelerated 
approval’ with the US FDA, which 
could see the drug receive marketing 
approval in the early 2020s. 

As such, we have moved beyond an 
‘early-stage’ company, to one with 
a realistic prospect of commercial 
revenue in just a few years – a very 
different position from the one we 
found ourselves in a few years ago. 
Moreover, our opportunities to 
realise value from GDC-0084 can 
be advanced prior to completion of 
the phase II study. Our intent is to 
continue to explore opportunities for 
licensing and partnerships throughout 
the clinical program, and each new 
milestone enhances our opportunity 
to engage and secure commercial 
partners.

To that end, the attainment of orphan 
designation for GDC-0084 in the US 
in February 2018 was an important 
achievement. Among the benefits of 
orphan designation are a waiver of fees 
at the time of a marketing application, 
and an extended period of market 
exclusivity, each of which considerably 
enhances the economic value of the 
asset.

We are also tremendously proud of our 
recently-announced collaboration with 
St Jude Children’s Research Hospital in 
the US to explore GDC-0084 in DIPG, 
a rare form of childhood cancer with a 
poor prognosis. St Jude is one of the, 
if not the, premier paediatric cancer 
hospitals in the world. Their dedication 
to improving the quality of care and 
advancing new treatments for their 
young patients is inspiring. 

For Kazia, we hope that this 
collaboration will be only the first of 
several. It has been said on a number 
of occasions that, while glioblastoma 
represents the best path to market 
for the drug, there are other potential 
disease areas to which GDC-0084 
could be applied. We continue active 
discussions with a number of leading 
centres in the US and elsewhere to 
explore other potential collaborations 
that may serve to expand the 
applications for GDC-0084 and 
enhance its commercial opportunity. 
At the American Society of Clinical 
Oncology (ASCO) Annual Meeting in 
Chicago this year, it was tremendously 
encouraging to see the excitement 
of clinicians and researchers for 
GDC-0084, and we look forward to 
potentially working with a number of 
these experts as the clinical program 
moves forward.

Meanwhile, the ongoing phase I study 
of Cantrixil in ovarian cancer provided a 
promising interim data readout in June, 
and we eagerly await more definitive 
data as the study moves forward. We 
will no doubt learn much more as the 
study progresses, but it has been a 
good start to the clinical experience 
with Cantrixil, in a disease, ovarian 
cancer, with a profound unmet medical 
need. 

As Kazia now has two international 
clinical programs ongoing, it has been 
necessary to maintain a tight focus in 
the company. We therefore made a 
strategic decision last year to partner 
out our legacy early-stage discovery 
programs. We have now concluded this 
process with the announcement of two 
transactions in the last year. 

The most recent of these saw our 
interests in the ‘next generation’ 
anti-tropomyosin program partnered 
to TroBio Therapeutics, a privately-
held start-up in Sydney, co-founded 
by Professor Peter Gunning, one of 
the original inventors of the ATM 
technology. We continue to be strong 
believers in the science behind these 
programs, but placing them in the 
hands of other parties conserves 
Kazia resources and focuses our small 
team on near term value creation 
while preserving the opportunity to 
participate in any future success. 

The ultimate output that drives value 
for a biotech company is clinical 
data. Investors seek out and follow 
companies that have demonstrable 
clinical “catalysts”. It is exciting 
that Kazia now has three ongoing 
studies, each generating new clinical 
insights over time, and each with the 
potential to transform the treatment 
of a challenging disease. I and my 
colleagues in the management team 
remain profoundly grateful for the 
continued support of shareholders, 
many of whom I have had the pleasure 
of interacting with personally over the 
course of this year, and we look forward 
to continuing to report great progress 
in the year ahead.

Dr James Garner 
Chief Executive Officer

CEO’s 
Report FY2018 

Two clinical programs
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We have moved beyond  
an ‘early-stage’ company, 
to one with a realistic 
prospect of commercial 
revenue in just  
a few years.
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November
13 November 2017 
As part of a strategic refocusing on clinical-stage programs, 
Kazia out-licenses Trilexium and several early-stage programs 
to Heaton-Brown Life Sciences in return for equity, milestones, 
and royalties.

15 November 2017 
Following strong support from shareholders at the 2017 
AGM, Novogen rebrands to Kazia Therapeutics Limited, and ASX 
securities are consolidated at a 10:1 ratio.

September
21 September 2017 
Kazia holds Type B meeting with US Food & Drug 
Administration (FDA) which provides generally supportive 
feedback on GDC-0084 development plan.

Key Milestones & Highlights
2017 / 2018

August
7 August 2017  
Patents granted in the US and EU for Cantrixil, Kazia’s investigational 
new drug for ovarian cancer.

14 August 2017 
Operational review yields $1.8 million in annualized cost savings, 
including 50% reduction in Board expense.

22 August 2017 
Kazia announces appointment of Chiltern Oncology, a specialist 
global contract research organization, to run phase II clinical study of 
GDC-0084 in glioblastoma.

October
3 October 2017 
Kazia updates its Board and Committee charters as 
part of an ongoing review of corporate governance.

December
21 December 2017 
Kazia receives first Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval for GDC-0084 phase II 
study, with first site to open in 1Q 2018.

27 December 2017 
Kazia concludes IP settlement with Noxopharm Limited (ASX: NOX), resulting in receipt 
of stock in Noxopharm, valued at approximately $8 million at the date of issue, in 
exchange for use of Kazia intellectual property.

2017

Kazia Therapeutics Limited6



February
19 February 2018 
As part of the company’s cost reduction efforts, Kazia 
relocates from Hornsby to more economical premises 
at Barangaroo in Sydney.

 23 February 2018 
Kazia receives Orphan Drug Designation for GDC-0084 
in glioblastoma from the US FDA.

March
9 March 2018 
Kazia receives grant of patents for GDC-0084 in Malaysia 
and China.

12 March 2018 
Kazia commences 13-week animal toxicology study of 
GDC-0084, in compliance with FDA guidelines, in order 
to support later studies and marketing authorisation.

29 March 2018 
GDC-0084 phase II study opens to recruitment 
at the Stephenson Cancer Center, University of 
Oklahoma, with additional sites to follow.

July (post-period)
13 July 2018 
Kazia completes out-license of ‘next generation’ anti-tropomyosin program to TroBio 
Life Sciences, a start-up based in Sydney, Australia, in return for equity in the new 
business.

20 July 2018 
Kazia successfully files F-3 ‘shelf’ registration statement with the US Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC), allowing for a more agile response to future investor 
interest in the United States.

June
19 June 2018 
Kazia presents interim results from phase I study 
of Cantrixil in ovarian cancer showing promising 
preliminary data.

2018
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Operations 
Review
Driving 
clinical 
outcomes  
for patients

 If FY2017 was a year of transformation, FY2018 was a 
year of delivery, with the highlight being commencement of 
our phase II study investigating the use of GDC-0084, our 
lead therapeutic, in patients with glioblastoma.

Preclinical Phase I Phase II Phase III

GDC-0084

PI3K/mTOR 
Inhibitor

(Licenced from 
Genentech in 

October 2016)

Glioblastoma 
Multiforme (GBM)
(Kazia-sponsored)

Paediatric High Grade 
Gliomas (incl. DIPG)

(collaboration with St Jude 
Children’s Research Hospital)

Potential future studies 
and collaborations TBD

TRX-E-002-1 
(Cantrixil)

Ovarian Cancer
(Kazia-sponsored)

Three ongoing clinical trials in brain cancer and ovarian cancer

Kazia Therapeutics Limited8



GDC-0084
Launching an international clinical trial is always an enormous 
undertaking, and much of the second half of calendar 2017 
was focused on the important preparatory work necessary 
to make this study a success. In September, Kazia discussed 
the clinical study design with the US Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA). All our studies are conducted under the 
oversight of the FDA, so as to ensure that our data satisfies 
their requirements, and so it was very encouraging that FDA 
were broadly supportive of our plans. Some valuable feedback 
was integrated into the study design following the meeting.

In November, a meeting of clinicians involved in the clinical 
trial was convened at the Society for Neuro-Oncology (SNO) 
annual meeting in San Francisco, California. Genentech had 
been able to attract some of the world experts in glioblastoma 
to the GDC-0084 phase I study, and we are fortunate that 
many of those clinicians are now participating in Kazia’s phase 
II study.Their input and expertise have been invaluable in 
refining and optimizing the study.

Although the phase II study attracts much of the attention, a 
great deal of supportive work goes on in the background to 
move the GDC-0084 program forward. Some of this, such 
as manufacture of capsules for convenient administration to 
patients, is directly supportive for the study. Other activities 
are more forward-looking. For example, since Kazia assumed 
ownership of GDC-0084, it has secured patents in important 
jurisdictions such as the US, Australia, and China. In addition, 
the company commenced a 13-week animal toxicology study 
in January 2018, which will be required by FDA prior to the 
main part of the phase II study and for a future marketing 
application.

Our recently announced collaboration with St Jude Children’s 
Research Hospital reflects the important recognition that, 
while glioblastoma represents the fastest, best path to market 
for GDC-0084, the drug has other potentially important 
clinical applications. Over the coming year, we will be 
exploring potential collaborations that will allow us to test 
GDC-0084 in other settings. In general, we do not expect to 
be funding such trials in their entirety, and so our model in 
these exploratory studies is to collaborate with the leading 
researchers in the world to generate data in a way that shares 
costs and workload. Our collaboration with St Jude in Diffuse 
Intrinsic Pontine Glioma (DIPG), a specific form of childhood 
brain cancer, is the first and an important component of this 
strategy, and we look forward to hopefully bringing other 
collaborations to fruition in FY2019.

Glioblastoma multiforme is the most common 
and aggressive form of brain cancer.
Despite current therapies, it is almost always fatal.
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Cantrixil
The phase I clinical trial of Cantrixil in ovarian cancer begin 
in December 2016. In June 2018, we were pleased to share 
interim data from this study. In summary, Cantrixil had 
succeeded in escalating through most of its dose levels with 
only a single patient needed in each cohort, which is an 
encouraging pointer towards a favourable safety profile. In 
addition, there were signals of potential clinical efficacy, with 
three of five assessable patients showing stable disease after 
being treated with Cantrixil alone, and one of those patients 
exhibiting a partial response – shrinkage of their tumour – 
when Cantrixil was combined with chemotherapy. These are 
promising results, albeit very early, and if they are borne out 
in the remainder of the study, they may leave Cantrixil well-
placed to contribute to the treatment of ovarian cancer.

As with GDC-0084, work continues in the background to 
support the overarching development of Cantrixil. Early in 
FY2018, we were granted patents for Cantrixil in the US and 
EU, key markets for future commercialisation. In the latter part 

of calendar 2017, we manufactured a second batch of the 
drug under Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) conditions. 
In addition to providing a plentiful drug supply for the phase 
I study, the second manufacturing run gave us valuable 
additional experience in the manufacture of Cantrixil, and the 
opportunity to make improvements to the process. Meanwhile 
we continue to collaborate with researchers and clinicians 
to further our understanding of Cantrixil, some of which is 
attested to in the recent publication of an excellent review 
article in the peer-reviewed journal, Expert Opinion.

We expect in the near term to complete the ‘dose escalation’ 
component (Part A) of the Cantrixil phase I study, which 
will establish the drug’s safety profile, and determine the 
‘maximum tolerated dose’ (MTD) for further investigation. 
The study will then immediately transition into an ‘expansion 
cohort’ (Part B), which seeks to provide initial evidence of 
efficacy.

looking ahead

 the results of the Cantrixil study will help to inform a 
strategic decision on the future development of the drug 
and provide us the opportunity to engage both potential 
partners and investors.

two clinical programs, with value-driving inflection points providing 
impactful newsflow during 2018–19

gdC-0084

glioblastoma 
Multiforme (gBM)

Cantrixil

ovarian Cancer

Receipt of 
Orphan Drug 
Designation 

from US FDA

Preliminary 
data from 

phase 1 study 
in ovarian 

cancer

Start of phase 
2a study in 

first-line GBM

Commence 
potential 

collaborations 
in other brain 

cancers

data read-out 
from phase 2a 

study 
(safety and 

dosing)

data read-out 
from phase 1 

study 
(safety and 

dosing)

data read-out 
from phase 

2a study 
(preliminary 

efficacy)

data read-out 
from phase 1 

study 
(preliminary 

efficacy)

2018 2019

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
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With two ongoing clinical programs, we expect to report 
significant data read-outs in the year ahead.

In short, Kazia can look forward to four value-driving clinical 
catalysts in the year ahead, making it an exciting period for 
investors. In addition to moving GDC-0084 and Cantrixil 
closer to a marketing authorisation, these data provide 
opportunities to engage more deeply with potential partners 
and licensees.

In parallel, we continue to explore opportunities to bring new 
assets into our pipeline, consistent with the strategy described 
over the past eighteen months. We have set a high bar, and 
are looking for candidates of comparable quality to GDC-
0084. We have passed on several opportunities that were not 
of sufficient calibre to warrant investment of shareholder funds. 
We expect to broaden these discussions in the coming year 
now that the GDC-0084 phase II study is underway.

2H 
CY2018

Read-out from Part A of Cantrixil 
phase I study (safety and 
tolerability)

2Q 
CY2019

Read-out from dose escalation 
component of GDC-0084 phase 
II study (safety and tolerability)

3Q 
CY2019

Read-out from Part B of Cantrixil 
phase I study (preliminary 
efficacy)

4Q 
CY2019

Read-out from dose expansion 
component of GDC-0084 phase 
II study (preliminary efficacy)

FY2018 highlights
Chairm

an’s letter
CEO

’s report
O

perations review

 Annual Report 2018 11



Kazia Therapeutics Limited12

FINANCIAL REPORT FY18



D
irectors’ Report

N
otes to the Financial Statem

ents
Auditor’s Independence D

eclaration
Independent Auditor’s Report

Financial Statem
ents

Shareholder Inform
ation

 Annual Report 2018 13

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the 
‘consolidated entity’) consisting of Kazia Therapeutics Limited (referred to hereafter as the ‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2018.

Directors
The following persons were Directors of Kazia Therapeutics Limited (ABN 37 063 259 754) during the whole of the financial year 
and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Iain Ross

Bryce Carmine

Steven Coffey

James Garner

PrinciPal activities
During the financial year the principal continuing activity of the consolidated entity consisted of pharmaceutical research and 
development.

DiviDenDs
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

review of oPerations
The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $6,039,242 (30 June 2017: $10,670,377).

The attached financial statements detail the performance and financial position of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 
June 2018.

cash resources
At 30 June 2018, the consolidated entity had total funds, comprising cash at bank and on hand of $2,956,182 and short term 
deposits of $3,000,000. Total current assets at year-end stand at $9,259,615 and the company also holds listed securities with 
a market value at year end in excess of $4 million, which are readily convertible into cash.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Directors have considered this to be appropriate. 
Refer to ‘Going concern’ in note 2 to the financial statements for further details.

rounding of amounts
The Company is a type of Company referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191 and therefore the amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest 
dollar.
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research and development report 
The company’s lead development candidate is GDC-0084, a small molecule inhibitor of the PI3K / Akt / mTor pathway, that is 
being developed as a potential therapy for glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), the most common malignant and highly aggressive 
form of primary brain tumor in adults.

GDC-0084 was developed by Genentech, Inc (South San Francisco, California) and the company entered into a worldwide exclusive 
license for the asset in October 2016. Prior to this transaction, Genentech had completed an extensive preclinical development 
program that provided convincing validation for GDC-0084 as a potential drug for brain cancer. Genentech also completed a phase 
I clinical trial in 47 patients with advanced grade III and grade IV glioma. The most common adverse events were oral mucositis and 
hyperglycemia. Per RANO criteria, 40% of patients exhibited a best observable response of stable disease, and 26% demonstrated a 
metabolic partial response on FDG-PET.

During the period, the company has completed manufacture of investigational product in a capsule presentation, under Good 
Manufacturing Practice (GMP) conditions, for use in a projected phase II clinical study. The company conducted a Type B 
meeting with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in September 2017, which provided general support and specific 
guidance to the projected phase II clinical study. The company engaged Chiltern Oncology, a specialist contract research 
organisation (CRO) to execute the study. A first institutional review board approval was received in December 2017, and the 
study commenced in March 2018. It is listed on clinicaltrials.gov as NCT03522298.

In parallel, the company has commenced a 13-week toxicology study in two animal species under Good Laboratory Practice 
(GLP) conditions in order to support the further development and commercialisation of GDC-0084. This study remains ongoing 
and is expected to complete in the second half of calendar 2018. The company has also taken patents to acceptance or grant in 
a number of territories, including Australia, China, and the United States.

In February 2018, the company was notified by FDA that its application for Orphan Drug Designation (ODD) for GDC-0084 
had been successful. Orphan designation provides a number of potential benefits for a drug in development, including a waiver 
of application fees at the time of a New Drug Application (NDA), potential access to orphan grants, and up to seven years of 
additional market exclusivity once the product is commercialised.

Post-period, in July 2018, the company submitted an application to the World Health Organisation (WHO) for an International  
Non-proprietary Name (INN) for GDC-0084. The INN will be the generic name by which the compound is generally known in 
its future development and commercialisation, and an application is common practice at this stage in a drug’s development. 
The application is expected to be initially reviewed at the INN Autumn Consultation in the fourth calendar quarter of 2018, and 
the final selection of a name is expected to be complete by the end of calendar 2019.

Cantrixil (TRX-E-002-1) is the company’s second clinical asset, and is derived from a proprietary drug discovery program. It is 
being developed as a potential therapy for ovarian cancer.

Research undertaken by Yale University (New Haven, Connecticut) has provided preclinical evidence that Cantrixil is active 
against both differentiated cancer cells and tumour-initiating cells (sometimes referred to as ‘cancer stem cells’). The latter are 
thought to be an important component of chemotherapy resistance and disease recurrence in diseases such as ovarian cancer, 
and thus Cantrixil has potential to offer benefit to the approximately three-quarters of ovarian cancer patients who are not 
adequately managed by conventional chemotherapy treatments.

In December 2016, the company commenced a phase I clinical trial of Cantrixil in patients with ovarian cancer. It is 
listed on clinicaltrials.gov as NCT02903771. The study seeks to establish the safety and tolerability of the development 
candidate, to determine a Maximum Tolerated Dose (MTD), and to explore indicative signals of clinical efficacy. Five trials 
sites in the United States and Australia are currently recruiting to the study.

The Cantrixil phase I study reported high-level data from an unplanned interim analysis in June 2018. The study continued to 
recruit to the dose escalation component but had enrolled mostly single-patient cohorts to date. Of five patients for whom any 
conclusion could be drawn as to efficacy, three had shown stable disease after two cycles of Cantrixil monotherapy, and one 
had shown a partial response after receiving Cantrixil in conjunction with chemotherapy. The study remains ongoing, and it is 
anticipated that the dose escalation component will complete in the third calendar quarter of 2018. 

siGnificant chanGes in the state of affairs
The company continued to pursue its strategy of focusing resources on clinical programs, being those most likely to provide a 
return to shareholders, and so the majority of the company’s early-stage intellectual property (IP) was licensed out or partnered. 
In November 2017, Trilexium and a suite of early-stage molecules were licensed to Heaton-Brown Life Sciences Pty Ltd, a 
privately-held start-up, in return for 10% of the equity in the company and undisclosed commercial terms.

In December 2017, the company completed an agreement with Noxopharm Limited (ASX: NOX), a publicly-held biotech 
company, in relation to certain IP. In connection with this agreement, the company received 5,970,714 of common stock 
in Noxopharm and 3,000,000 options over Noxopharm stock, with a strike price of $0.80. The value of the holdings in 
Noxopharm at 30 June 2018 is approximately $4.3m.

Post-period, in July 2018, the company announced that it had entered into an agreement with TroBio Therapeutics Pty Ltd, a  
privately-held start-up, in which all interests in the ‘next generation’ anti-tropomyosin (ATM) program would be assigned to 
TroBio in return for 12% of the equity in that company. Completion of the transaction remains conditional on the Department of 
Industry, Innovation and Science agreeing to novate the CRC-P grant to TroBio.

The company has continued to make all efforts to improve operating efficiency and to reduce G&A costs. The organisation has 
been significantly restructured, and the company’s place of business has relocated to a less expensive location at Barangaroo 
in Sydney.
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Following approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in November 2017, the company changed its name to 
Kazia Therapeutics Limited and has undertaken a consolidation of its common stock at a 10:1 ratio. The ratio between the ASX 
securities and the NASDAQ securities has been revised such that each NASDAQ depository receipt represents 10 underlying 
ASX securities.

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the enD of the financial year
In July 2018 the consolidated entity announced that it has entered into an agreement with TroBio Therapeutics Pty Ltd, a 
privately held start-up, in which all interests in the ‘next generation’ anti tropomyosin (ATM) program would be assigned to 
TroBio in return for 12% of the equity in that company. Completion of the transaction remains conditional on the Department of 
Industry, Innovation and Science agreeing to novate the CRC-P grant to TroBio.

In July 2018 the company lodged an SEC Form F3 which will allow the Company to issue various types of securities, including 
ordinary shares and/or warrants, from time to time over a period of three years. Any ordinary shares issued will trade in the form 
of American Depository Shares which currently trade on NASDAQ under the symbol KZIA. The company is not obliged to issue 
any securities under this arrangement, but if it does, the amount and timing is at the discretion of the company.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial 
years.

likely DeveloPMents anD exPecteD results of oPerations
The consolidated entity has a reasonable expectation that over the course of the coming 12 months:
•	 Results will be reported from the phase I clinical trial of Cantrixil (TRX-E-002-1) 
•	 Initial results will be reported from the phase II clinical trial of GDC-0084

environMental reGulation
The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law.
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inforMation on Directors
‘Other current directorships’ quoted below are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships of all 
other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted below are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and excludes 
directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

Name: Iain Ross

Title: Non-Executive Director, Chairman

Qualifications: B.Sc. (Hons). C Dir.

Experience and expertise: Iain, based in the UK, is an experienced Director on a number of Australian company 
boards. He is Chairman of e-Therapeutics plc (LSE:ETX), Redx Pharma plc (LSE:REDX) 
and Biomer Technology Limited. In his career he has held senior positions in Sandoz 
AG, Fisons Plc, Hoffmann-La Roche AG and Celltech Group Plc and also undertaken 
a number of start-ups and turnarounds on behalf of banks and private equity 
groups. His track record includes multiple financing transactions having raised in 
excess of £300 million, both publicly and privately, as well as extensive experience 
of divestments and strategic restructurings and has over 20 years in cross-border 
management as a Chairman and CEO. He has led and participated in six  
Initial Public Offerings (4 LSE, 1 ASX, 1 NASDAQ) and has direct experience of 
mergers and acquisitions transactions in Europe, USA and the Pacific Rim.

Other current directorships: Anatara Lifesciences Limited (ASX:ANR), e-Therapeutics plc (LSE: ETX), 
Redx Pharma plc (LSE:REDX) 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Tissue Therapies Limited, Benitec Biopharma Limited, Premier Veterinary Group Plc 
(LSE:PVG)

Special responsibilities: Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee, Member of Audit, Risk and 
Governance Committee.

Interests in shares: 220,000 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

Contractual rights to shares: None

Name: Bryce Carmine

Title: Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: B.Sc., Biochemistry, Microbiology & Genetics

Experience and expertise: Bryce spent 36 years working for Eli Lilly & Co. and retired as Executive Vice President 
for Eli Lilly & Co, and President, Lilly Bio-Medicines. Prior to this he lead the Global 
Pharmaceutical Sales and Marketing and was a member of the company’s Executive 
Committee. Mr Carmine previously held a series of product development portfolio 
leadership roles culminating when he was named President, Global Pharmaceutical 
Product Development, with responsibility for the entire late-phase pipeline 
development across all therapeutic areas for Eli Lilly. During his career with Lilly, 
Bryce held several country leadership positions including President Eli Lilly Japan, 
Managing Dir. Australia/NZ & General Manager of a JV for Lilly in Seoul, Korea. Bryce 
is currently Chairman and CEO of HaemaLogiX Pty Ltd, a Sydney based privately 
owned biotech.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Member of Audit, Risk and Governance Committee, Chair of Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee.

Interests in shares: 91,819 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

Contractual rights to shares: None

Name: Steven Coffey

Title: Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: B. Comm, CA
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Experience and expertise: Steven is a Chartered Accountant, having spent his career in public practice since 
graduating from the University of New South Wales in 1983. He has been a partner 
in the chartered accounting firm Watkins Coffey Martin since 1993. He is a registered 
company auditor and audits a number of large private companies as well as a number 
of  
not-for-profit entities. He has previously served on the board of an Australian listed 
public company. Steve is currently a board member of two private ancillary funds 
(PAFs).

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Chair of Audit, Risk and Governance Committee, Member of Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee.

Interests in shares: 142,000 ordinary shares

Interests in options: 5,875 listed options (NRTO)

Contractual rights to shares: None

Name: Dr James Garner

Title: Chief Executive Officer, Managing Director

Qualifications: MA, MBA, MBBS, BSc (Hons) 

Experience and expertise: Dr Garner is an experienced life sciences executive who has previously worked with 
companies ranging from small biotechs to multinational pharmaceutical companies 
such as Biogen and Takeda. His career has focused on regional and global 
development of new medicines from preclinical to commercialisation. Dr Garner is a 
physician by training and holds an MBA from the University of Queensland. He began 
his career in hospital medicine and worked for a number of years as a corporate 
strategy consultant with Bain & Company before entering the pharmaceutical 
industry. Prior to joining Kazia in 2016, he led R&D strategy for Sanofi in Asia-Pacific 
and was based in Singapore.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Interests in shares: 50,000 ordinary shares 

Interests in options: 750,000 options with various exercise prices and expiring 1 February 2021.

Contractual rights to shares: None

coMPany secretary
Kate Hill (ACA, GAICD, BSc (Hons)) has held the role of Company Secretary since 9 September 2016.

Kate has over 20 years’ experience as an audit partner with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, working with ASX listed and privately 
owned clients. She has worked extensively in regulated environments including assisting with Initial Public Offerings, capital 
raising and general compliance, as well as operating in an audit environment. She is also a Non-executive Director of Countplus 
Limited (ASX:CUP) and Elmo Software Limited (ASX:ELO) as well as Chair of their Audit and Risk Committees. 

MeetinGs of Directors
The number of meetings of the company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each Board committee held during the year 
ended 30 June 2018, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

 
full board

audit,  
risk & Governance 

committee

remuneration &  
nomination  
committee

attended held attended held attended held

Iain Ross 12 12 5 5 1 1 

Bryce Carmine 12 12 5 5 1 1 

Steven Coffey 12 12 5 5 1 1 

James Garner 12 12 - - - -

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant 
committee.
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reMuneration rePort (auDiteD)
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’) remuneration arrangements 
for the consolidated entity, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

KMP are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities 
of the group, directly or indirectly.

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

•	 Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
•	 Details of remuneration
•	 Service agreements
•	 Share-based compensation
•	 Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
Remuneration philosophy
Remuneration for Directors and Senior Executives is based on the overall objective of attracting and retaining people of high 
quality who will make a worthwhile contribution to the consolidated entity in the short, medium and long term, and thereby 
contribute to long term shareholder value. The Board and its Remuneration and Nomination Committee take a balanced 
position between the need to pay market rates to attract talent, and the financial resources of the consolidated entity, in 
determining remuneration. 

The Board and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee have put in place both short term (cash bonus) and long term 
(employee share options) incentives for its employees. 

Non-Executive Directors remuneration
The Constitution of the consolidated entity and the ASX listing rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors shall be determined from time to time by General Meeting. The last determination for the consolidated entity was 
at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 October 2005 when the shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of 
$560,000.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees are reviewed periodically by the Board and are regularly compared with those of companies of 
comparable market capitalisation and stage of development. The Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of 
other non-executive Directors based on comparative roles in the external market. The Non-Executive Directors fee structure is 
a fixed fee model (inclusive of superannuation). At the start of the financial year the Non-Executive fee structure was reviewed 
and simplified, with an overall reduction in the number of Non-Executive Directors and their individual fee arrangements. Non-
Executive Directors have deferred 50% of their fees from 1 February 2018 in order to conserve cash resources. The deferred 
amount is included in accruals, and has been disclosed in this remuneration report.

Executive Directors and other KMP
The Board, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee in consultation with the Managing Director have put in place a 
performance based short-term incentive, in addition to the fixed remuneration, and long-term incentive based on tenure via the 
Employee Share Option Plan (“ESOP”) which was re-approved by shareholders on 15 November 2017. The Board determines 
an appropriate level of fixed remuneration for the CEO and Group Executives, as well as the proportion of performance based 
remuneration. Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary and superannuation, is reviewed annually at the end of each 
calendar year.

The executive remuneration and reward framework has three components:

•	 fixed remuneration
•	 short-term performance incentives
•	 share-based payments

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee based on individual performance, 
the overall performance of the consolidated entity and comparable market remunerations. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee determined that there be no increases in fixed remuneration during the financial year ended 30 June 2018 in order 
to conserve cash resources.
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The short-term incentives program is designed to align the targets of the consolidated entity with the performance hurdles of 
executives. Short-term incentive payments are granted to executives based on specific annual performance objectives, metrics 
and performance appraisals. Annual performance reviews are conducted at the end of each calendar year and bonuses are 
paid shortly after the performance reviews are completed.

The Board or the Remuneration and Nomination Committee may, at its discretion, award bonuses for exceptional performance.

Despite being pleased with the operational achievements of the team during the financial year, the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee determined that no cash bonuses be paid in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2018 in order 
to conserve cash resources.

The long-term incentive comprises equity-based payments. The consolidated entity aims to attract and retain high calibre 
executives, and align their interests with those of the shareholders, by granting equity-based payments based on tenure. The 
share-options issued to executives are governed by the ESOP.

Employee share option plan
The Employee Share Option Plan (‘ESOP’) was approved by shareholders on 4 March 2015 and re-approved by shareholders 
on 15 November 2017.

The ESOP provides for the issue of options to eligible individuals, being employees or Officers of the consolidated entity, 
however it excludes Non-Executive Directors.

Each option issued under the ESOP entitles its holder to acquire one fully paid ordinary share and is exercisable at a price 
based on a formula, which includes the weighted average price of such shares at the close of trading on the Australian 
Securities Exchange for the seven days prior to the date of issue. The number of options offered, the amount payable, the 
vesting period, the option period, the conditions of exercise or any other factors are at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

The consolidated entity issued 664,000 share options under the ESOP during the financial year that ended 30 June 2018.

Any change to the ESOP will require approval by shareholders.

Use of remuneration consultants
During the financial year ended 30 June 2018, the consolidated entity did not engage remuneration consultants.

Details of remuneration
Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consolidated entity are set out in the following tables.

The KMP of the consolidated entity consisted of the following directors of Kazia Therapeutics Limited:

•	 Iain Ross - Non-Executive Director, Chairman 

•	 Bryce Carmine - Non-Executive Director

•	 Steven Coffey - Non-Executive Director

•	 Dr James Garner - Managing Director, CEO

And the following persons:

•	 Gabrielle Heaton - Director of Finance and Administration 

•	 Kate Hill - Company Secretary 

•	 Dr Gordon Hirsch - Chief Medical Officer (ceased employment 31 December 2017)

•	 Dr Peng Leong - Chief Business Officer (ceased employment 31 January 2018)
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Short-term benefits
Post-

employment 
benefits

Share-
based 

payments
Movements 

in accrued 
leave  
Non- 

monetary

Cash 
salary  

and fees
Cash 

bonus
Health 

Insurance Termination
Super- 

annuation

Equity- 
settled 

options Total
2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive 
Directors:

I Ross*** 124,957 - - - - - - 124,957 

B Carmine 75,000 - - - - 7,125 - 82,125 

S Coffey 75,000 - - - - 7,125 - 82,125 

Executive 
Directors:

J Garner 425,000 - 21,038 3,917 - 37,010 133,171 620,136

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

G Heaton 170,000 - - - - 14,804 6,650 191,454 

G Hirsch* 287,269 - (19,447) - - 24,426 (9,159) 283,089 

K Hill 140,000 - - - - - 19,132 159,132 

P Leong*, ** 320,020 - (14,770) 27,735 - - (32,767) 300,218 

1,617,246 - (13,179) 31,652 - 90,490 117,027 1,843,236 

* Remuneration for the duration of appointment as KMP.
** Salary paid in US dollars, but disclosed in Australian dollars using a conversion rate of 0.7753.
*** Salary paid in UK pounds, but disclosed in Australian dollars using a conversion rate of 0.5762.

The table above does not include long service leave as no KMP have been employed by the consolidated entity for more than 
5 years. 
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Short-term benefits
Post-

employment 
benefits

Share-
based 

payments
Movement 
in accrued 

annual leave  
Non- 

monetary

Cash 
salary  

and fees
Cash 

bonus
Health 

Insurance Termination
Super- 

annuation

Equity- 
settled 

options Total
2017 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive 
Directors:

B Carmine 117,123 - - - - 11,127 - 128,250 

S Coffey 46,338 - - - - 35,000 - 81,338 

P Gunning* 12,639 - - - - 1,201 - 13,840 

J O’Connor*,*** 145,685 - - - - 17,403 - 163,088 

I Phillips*,*** 79,713 - - - - - - 79,713 

I Ross 84,822 - - - - - - 84,822 

Executive 
Directors:

J Garner 410,412 90,000 25,755 3,758 - 35,283 259,454 824,662 

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

A 
Heaton*,**,**** 238,241 37,883 (34,442) 6,146 174,592 - - 422,420 

C Humphreys* 141,191 23,760 (4,934) - - 14,470 11,884 186,371 

D Brown*, **** 203,754 32,588 (21,096) - 140,780 13,797 - 369,823 

G Heaton* 52,308 - 4,024 - - 4,969 - 61,301 

G Hirsch* 215,857 6,904 16,621 - - 18,861 46,055 304,298 

K Hill* 113,200 - - - - - - 113,200 

L Mateo* 25,192 - 1,095 - - 2,364 - 28,651 

P Leong*, ** 394,811 - 15,001 28,717 - - 85,864 524,393 

2,281,286 191,135 2,024 38,621 315,372 154,475 403,257 3,386,170 

* Remuneration for the duration of appointment as KMP.
** Salary paid in US dollars, but disclosed in Australian dollars using a conversion rate of .7545.
***  In addition to the above amounts, consultancy fees of $20,531 were paid to Kumara Inc, a corporation in which Ian Phillips is a Director and has a 

beneficial interest, and consultancy fees of $37,500 were paid to John O’Connor. These fees were incurred in respect of executive duties performed 
during the year and, in accordance with the Company’s Constitution, fall outside of the cap on Non-Executive Directors fees.

**** Consistent with their contractual terms, amounts of $140,780 and $174,592 were paid to D Brown and A Heaton respectively, in lieu of notice.

The table above does not include long service leave as no KMP have been employed by the consolidated entity for more than 
5 years.

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are at risk

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI
Name 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Executive Directors:

James Garner 79% 58% - 11% 21% 31% 

Other Key Management Personnel:

Gabrielle Heaton 97% 100% - - 3% -

Gordon Hirsch 100% 83% - 2% - 15% 

Kate Hill 88% 100% - - 12% -

Peng Leong 100% 84% - - - 16% 
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Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth
Shareholder wealth in a company engaged in drug development is generally driven by successful commercialisation, outlicence 
or sale of a drug candidate, and is a long term proposition, rather than being linked to annual financial performance. The 
directors have selected a CEO and key management team who, in the directors opinion, are well placed to realise such an 
outcome for our shareholders.

Voting and comments made at the consolidated entity’s last Annual General Meeting
The consolidated entity received 75.3% of “yes” votes on its Remuneration Report for the financial year ending 30 June 2017. 
The consolidated entity received no specific feedback on its Remuneration Report at the Annual General Meeting.

Bonuses included in remuneration
Details of short term incentive cash bonuses awarded as remuneration to each key management personnel are included in the 
above tables. No bonuses were paid in respect of or during the year ended 30 June 2018.

Service agreements
It is the Remuneration and Nomination Committee policy that employment contracts are entered into with each of the 
executives who is considered to be KMP. Under the terms of the contracts, remuneration is reviewed at least annually (or 
more often at the discretion of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee). The employment contracts of KMPs include 
a termination clause whereby a party can terminate the agreement on notice. Such notice may vary between 4 weeks and 6 
months. Under the terms of each contract, payment in lieu can be made by the consolidated entity to substitute the notice 
period. The consolidated entity may terminate the contracts at any time without cause if serious misconduct has occurred. In 
the event that employment is terminated for cause, no severance pay or other benefits are payable by the consolidated entity.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Details of 
these agreements are as follows:

Name: James Garner

Title: Chief Executive Officer, Managing Director

Agreement commenced: 1 February 2016

Term of agreement: Full-time employment

Details: Base salary from 1 February 2017 of $425,000, to be reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee. James’s appointment with the consolidated 
entity may be terminated with the consolidated entity giving 6 months’ notice or by James 
giving 6 months’ notice. The consolidated entity may elect to pay James equal amount to 
that proportion of his salary equivalent 6 months’ pay in lieu of notice, together with any 
outstanding entitlements due to him. 

Name: Gabrielle Heaton

Title: Director of Finance and Administration

Agreement commenced: 13 March 2017

Term of agreement: Full time employment

Details: Base salary from 13 March 2017 of $170,000, to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee. Gabrielle’s appointment with the consolidated entity may 
be terminated with the consolidated entity giving 4 weeks’ notice or by Gabrielle giving 
4 weeks’ notice. The consolidated entity may elect to pay Gabrielle equal amount to 
that proportion of her salary equivalent 4 weeks’ pay in lieu of notice, together with any 
outstanding entitlements due to her. 

Name: Kate Hill

Title: Company Secretary

Agreement commenced: 9 September 2016

Term of agreement: Part-time contractor

Details: Base remuneration for the year ending 30 June 2018 of $140,000, based on time worked. 
Daily rate to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, with 
no change being made during the year ended 30 June 2018. The contract is open ended. 
Kate’s appointment with the consolidated entity may be terminated with the consolidated 
entity giving 60 days’ notice or by Kate giving 60 days’ notice. 

Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct.
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Share-based compensation
Issue of shares
There were no shares issued to Directors and other KMP as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2018.

Options 
The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares granted as remuneration of Directors to other Key 
Management Personnel in this financial year or future financial years are set out below. The options issued on 7 August 2017 
were to Kate Hill (100,000 options, post consolidation, with a fair value at grant date of $20,665) and Gabrielle Heaton (62,000 
options, post consolidation, with a fair value at grant date of $12,806). The options issued on 5 February were to Kate Hill 
(120,000, with a fair value at grant date of $24,000) and Gabrielle Heaton (80,000, with a fair value at grant date of $16,000). 
Service conditions are that any unvested options are forfeit on cessation of employment. There are no performance conditions, 
consistent with the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan rules, as reapproved by shareholders on 15 November 2017.

Grant date
 No  

of options 
Vesting  

 Date
Exercise  

 Date Expiry date
Exercise  

Price

FV per option  
at grant  

date

7-Aug-17 40,500 7-Aug-18 7-Aug-18 7-Aug-22 $0.67 $0.18

7-Aug-17 40,500 7-Aug-19 7-Aug-19 7-Aug-22 $0.67 $0.18

7-Aug-17 40,500 7-Aug-20 7-Aug-20 7-Aug-22 $0.67 $0.18

7-Aug-17 40,500 7-Aug-21 7-Aug-21 7-Aug-22 $0.67 $0.18

5-Feb-18 50,000 5-Aug-18 5-Aug-18 5-Feb-23 $0.78 $0.20

5-Feb-18 50,000 5-Feb-19 5-Feb-19 5-Feb-23 $0.78 $0.20

5-Feb-18 50,000 5-Aug-19 5-Aug-19 5-Feb-23 $0.78 $0.20

5-Feb-18 50,000 5-Feb-20 5-Feb-20 5-Feb-23 $0.78 $0.20

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. Each option is convertible to one ordinary share upon exercise. 
The number and exercise price of options was adjusted during the year ended 30 June 2018 as a result of the share 
consolidation whereby ten of the former ordinary shares of the Company were exchanged for one new ordinary share.

During the financial year 187,500 options held by P Leong and 150,000 options held by G Hirsch lapsed upon cessation of 
employment. These options were granted during the year ended 30 June 2017. No options were exercised during the year.

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel
Shareholding
The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other members of Key Management 
Personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

Balance at  
the start of  

the year
Share 

consolidation

Balance at  
the end of  

the year

Ordinary shares

B Carmine 918,181 (826,362) 91,819 

S Coffey 1,420,000 (1,278,000) 142,000 

J Garner 500,000 (450,000) 50,000 

I Ross 2,200,000 (1,980,000) 220,000 

K Hill 300,000 (270,000) 30,000 

5,338,181 (4,804,362) 533,819 
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Option holding
The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each Director and other members 
of Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

Balance at  
the start of  

the year

Granted  
as 

remuneration
Share 

consolidation

Forfeited on 
cessation of 
employment

Balance at  
the end of  

the year

Options over ordinary shares

S Coffey* 58,747 - (52,872) - 5,875 

J Garner**, *** 7,500,000 - (6,750,000) - 750,000 

G Hirsch** 2,000,000 - (1,800,000) (150,000) 50,000 

P Leong** 2,500,000 - (2,250,000) (187,500) 62,500 

K Hill** - 1,120,000 (900,000) - 220,000 

G Heaton** - 700,000 (558,000) - 142,000 

12,058,747 1,820,000 (12,310,872) (337,500) 1,230,375 

* The above listed options were not issued as part of remuneration.
** Options issued under the Employee Share Option Plan. Unvested options are forfeited upon cessation of employment with the consolidated entity.
***  300,000 of James Garner’s options are vested and exercisable at year end. Steven Coffey’s options are also vested and exercisable. No other 

options held by a Director or member of Key Management Personnel are vested or exercisable at year end.

Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties
There was no other transaction with KMP and their related parties.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

SHArES uNDEr oPTIoN
Unissued ordinary shares of Kazia Therapeutics Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise  
Price**

Closing  
Balance

16 December 2014 16 December 2019 $1.500 46,647 

18 December 2014 18 December 2019 $1.500 19,952 

4 June 2015* 4 June 2020 $4.000 2,948,400 

30 June 2015* 4 June 2020 $4.000 200,000 

30 June 2015 30 June 2020 $4.000 2,906,500 

16 November 2015 16 November 2020 $2.200 236,667 

18 March 2016 1 February 2021 $1.990 500,000 

18 March 2016 1 February 2021 $2.610 250,000 

5 September 2016 5 September 2021 $1.630 50,000 

31 October 2016 1 November 2021 $1.380 12,500 

12 October 2016 17 October 2021 $1.560 62,000 

21 November 2016 23 November 2021 $1.380 50,000 

7 August 2017 7 August 2022 $0.670 224,000 

5 February 2018 5 February 2023 $0.780 440,000 

7,946,666

* Listed options. All other tranches of options shown above are unlisted.
**  As set out in note 21, the share capital of the company was consolidated during the financial year by a factor of 10. As a consequence, the number of 

options on issue has reduced by a factor of 10, and the strike price of each option has increased by a factor of 10.

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of the 
company or of any other body corporate.

SHArES ISSuED oN THE ExErCISE oF oPTIoNS
There were no ordinary shares of Kazia Therapeutics Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 
2018 and up to the date of this report.
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INDEMNITy AND INSurANCE oF oFFICErS
The consolidated entity has not indemnified the Directors and Executives of the consolidated entity for costs incurred, in their 
capacity as a Director or Executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the consolidated entity paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Directors and Executives 
of the consolidated entity against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance 
prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

INDEMNITy AND INSurANCE oF AuDITor
The consolidated entity has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of 
the consolidated entity or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the consolidated entity has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
consolidated entity or any related entity.

ProCEEDINGS oN BEHALF oF THE CoMPANy
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

NoN-AuDIT SErVICES
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 28 to the financial statements.

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001.

The Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of 
the auditor; and

•	 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing 
or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the company, acting as 
advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 

All services have been pre-approved by the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee.

oFFICErS oF THE CoMPANy wHo ArE ForMEr PArTNErS oF GrANT 
THorNToN AuDIT PTy LTD
There are no officers of the company who are former partners of Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd.

AuDITor’S INDEPENDENCE DECLArATIoN
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors’ report.

AuDITor
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Mr Iain Ross Dr James Garner

Chairman Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer
 

29 August 2018

Sydney
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

www.grantthornton.com.au 

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Correspondence to: 
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230 
 
T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration  
To the Directors of Kazia Therapeutics Limited  

 

 

 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of Kazia 
Therapeutics Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
S M Coulton 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
 
Sydney, 29 August 2018 
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General information
The financial statements cover Kazia Therapeutics Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Kazia Therapeutics Limited and 
the entities it controlled at the end of or during the year. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is 
Kazia Therapeutics Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

Kazia Therapeutics Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered 
office and principal place of business is:

Three International Towers, 
Level 24  
300 Barangaroo Avenue  
Sydney NSW 2000

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities are included in the Directors’ 
report, which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 29 August 2018. The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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Statement of profit or loSS and other comprehenSive income
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Consolidated

note 2018 2017
$ $

revenue 5 119,170 248,837

Other income 6 12,989,303 8,563,431

expenses

Research and development expense (9,773,662) (11,136,178)

General and administrative expense (5,598,447) (8,529,126)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (136,753) (15,885)

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,114,080) - 

Impairment of financial assets (2,830,030) - 

loss before income tax benefit (6,344,499) (10,868,921)

Income tax benefit 8 305,257 198,544 

loss after income tax benefit for the year attributable to the owners of 
Kazia therapeutics limited (6,039,242) (10,670,377)

other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gain on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax - 8,952 

Net exchange difference on translation of financial statements of foreign 
controlled entities, net of tax (251,332) 24,805 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (251,332) 33,757 

total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 
Kazia therapeutics limited (6,290,574) (10,636,620)

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 37 (12.48) (2.28)

Diluted earnings per share 37 (12.48) (2.28)

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes
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Statement of fInanCIaL PoSItIon
AS AT 30 June 2018

Consolidated

note 2018 2017
$ $

assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 5,956,182 14,454,784 

Trade and other receivables 10 2,535,479 4,262,512 

Income tax refund due 11 - 4,963 

Other 12 767,954 758,082 

Total current assets 9,259,615 19,480,341 

non-current assets

Financial assets 13 4,335,463 21,803 

Property, plant and equipment 14 1,179 489,605 

Intangibles 15 14,578,830 15,918,354 

Total non-current assets 18,915,472 16,429,762 

total assets 28,175,087 35,910,103 

liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 2,066,758 1,872,554 

Provisions 17 161,327 155,149 

Deferred income 138,188 41,003 

Contingent consideration 18 1,521,228 3,315,401 

Total current liabilities 3,887,501 5,384,107 

non-current liabilities

Deferred tax 19 4,009,178 4,314,435 

Provisions - 63,878 

Trade and other payables - 106,398 

Contingent consideration 20 1,036,474 703,599 

Total non-current liabilities 5,045,652 5,188,310 

total liabilities 8,933,153 10,572,417 

net assets 19,241,934 25,337,686

equity

Contributed equity 21 31,575,824 193,769,409 

Other contributed equity 22 464,000 600,000 

Reserves 23 1,843,228 1,929,338 

Accumulated losses (14,641,118) (170,961,061)

total equity 19,241,934 25,337,686 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of CHanGeS In eQUItY
For the year ended 30 June 2018

issued
capital

other 
contributed 

equity

available-
for sale 
reserve

foreign 
currency

reserve

share 
based 

payments
reserve

accumulated
losses total equity

Consolidated $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 191,301,217 1,716,101 (45,776) (136,155) 1,602,323 (160,506,785) 33,930,925

Loss after income tax 
benefit for the year - - - - - (10,670,377) (10,670,377)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year, 
net of tax - - 8,952 24,805 - - 33,757 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - 8,952 24,805 - (10,670,377) (10,636,620)

Transactions with 
owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions 
of equity, net of 
transaction costs (note 
21) (17,662) - - - - - (17,662)

Share-based 
payments (note 38) - - - - 475,189 - 475,189 

Transfers - (216,101) - - - 216,101 - 

Conversion of 
convertible note 900,000 (900,000) - - - - - 

Issued on acquisition 
of Glioblast Pty Ltd 1,585,854 - - - - - 1,585,854 

Balance at 30 June 2017 193,769,409 600,000 (36,824) (111,350) 2,077,512 (170,961,061) 25,337,686
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Statement of CHanGeS In eQUItY (ContInUeD)
For the year ended 30 June 2018

issued
capital

other 
contributed 

equity

available-
for sale 
reserve

foreign 
currency

translation
reserve

share 
based 

payments
reserve

accumulated
losses total equity

Consolidated $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2017 193,769,409 600,000 (36,824) (111,350) 2,077,512 (170,961,061) 25,337,686

Loss after income tax 
benefit for the year - - - - - (6,039,242) (6,039,242)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year, 
net of tax - - - (251,332) - - (251,332)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - (251,332) - (6,039,242) (6,290,574)

Transactions with 
owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Share-based 
payments (note 38) - - - - 165,222 - 165,222

Issue of shares 29,600 - - - - - 29,600

Cancellation of 
share capital (162,223,185) - - - - 162,223,185 - 

Cancellation of 
convertible note - (136,000) - - - 136,000 -

Balance at 30 June 2018 31,575,824 464,000 (36,824) (362,682) 2,242,734 (14,641,118) 19,241,934

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of CaSH fLoWS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Consolidated

note 2018 2017
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss after income tax benefit for the year (6,039,242) (10,670,377)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 7 1,547,033 1,419,673 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 142,851 - 

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 136,753 15,885 

Share-based payments 165,222 517,189 

Foreign exchange differences (251,322) 453,578 

Shares issued for no consideration 29,600 - 

Gain on legal settlement 39 (8,410,680) - 

(Gain)/loss on contingent consideration 18,20 (1,461,298) 764,359 

Fair value loss on financial assets 3,944,110 - 

(10,196,973) (7,499,693)

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1,723,575 (4,064,636)

Decrease in accrued revenue 97,185 41,003 

Decrease in deferred tax balance (305,257) (197,707)

(Increase) in prepayments (9,872) (324,724)

Increase in trade and other payables 87,806 572,869 

(Decrease)/increase in other provisions (57,700) 38,190 

Net cash used in operating activities (8,661,236) (11,434,698)

Cash flows used in operating activities is represented by:

R&D cash rebate 3,973,052 4,436,284 

Payments to suppliers (12,634,288) (15,870,982)

Net cash used in operating activities (8,661,236) (11,434,698)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for purchase of business, net of cash acquired 33 - (7,097,152)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 14 - (11,649)

Payments for intangibles 15 - (8,445)

Proceeds from legal settlement 39 150,000 - 

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 150,000 (7,117,246)

Cash flows from financing activities

Share issue transaction costs - (17,662)

Net cash used in financing activities - (17,662)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (8,511,236) (18,569,606)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 14,454,784 33,453,140 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 12,634 (428,750)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 9 5,956,182 14,454,784 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Note 1. GeNeral iNformatioN 
The financial statements cover Kazia Therapeutics Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Kazia Therapeutics Limited and 
its subsidiaries. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Kazia Therapeutics Limited’s functional 
and presentation currency. 

Kazia Therapeutics Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered 
office and principal place of business is:

Three International Towers 
Level 24, 300 Barangaroo Avenue 
Sydney NSW 2000

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 28 August 2018. The 
Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

New or amended accounting Standards and interpretations adopted
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 

Going concern
The consolidated entity incurred a loss after income tax of $6,039,242 (2017: $10,670,377), was in a net current asset position of 
$5,372,114 (2017: net current asset position of $14,096,234) and had net cash outflows from operating activities of $8,661,236 
(2017: $11,434,698) for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

As at 30 June 2018 the consolidated entity had cash in hand and at bank of $5,956,182 and current assets of $9,259,615. In 
addition, the consolidated entity holds listed shares with a year-end value of in excess of $4 million which are readily convertible 
into cash.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal activities and 
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. As is often the case with drug development 
companies, the ability of the consolidated entity to continue its development activities as a going concern is dependent upon it 
deriving sufficient cash from investors, from licensing and partnering activities and from other sources of revenue such as grant 
funding. 

The directors have considered the cash flow forecasts and the funding requirements of the business and continues to explore 
grant funding, licensing opportunities and equity investment opportunities in the Company. The directors are confident that 
these strategies are appropriate to generate sufficient funding to allow the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern.

Accordingly the directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the above assumptions 
not prove to be appropriate, there is material uncertainty whether the consolidated entity will continue as a going concern and 
therefore whether it will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated 
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’). 

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale financial assets, 
which are at fair value. 

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

parent entity information
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 32. 
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principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Kazia Therapeutics Limited 
(‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 2018 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Kazia Therapeutics 
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the ‘consolidated entity’. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity when 
the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the consolidated entity. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference is between the consideration 
transferred and the book value.

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The consolidated 
entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any 
gain or loss in profit or loss. 

operating segments
Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for the allocation 
of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the consolidated entity’s functional and presentation 
currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange 
rates, which approximate the rate at the date of the transaction, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity. 

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation is disposed of.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign operation 
shall be recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net 
investment.

revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. In determining the economic benefits, provisions are made for certain trade discounts and returned goods. 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met: 

Interest
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset. 

The R&D Tax Incentive is a government program which helps to offset some of the incurred costs of R&D. Eligible expenditure 
incurred under the scheme in a financial year attracts an additional 43.5% tax deduction, and for a group earning income of 
less than $20 million, the cash value of the additional deduction is remitted to the taxpayer. In accordance with AASB 120, 
as the compensation relates to expenses already incurred, it is recognised in profit or loss of the period in which it becomes 
receivable. Accordingly the group accounts for the R&D Tax Incentive in the same year as the expenses to which it relates.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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Grant income
The R&D Tax Incentive is a government program which helps to offset some of the incurred costs of R&D. Eligible expenditure 
incurred under the scheme in a financial year attracts an additional 43.5% tax deduction, and for a group earning income of 
less than $20 million, the cash value of the additional deduction is remitted to the taxpayer. In accordance with AASB 120, 
as the compensation relates to expenses already incurred, it is recognised in profit or loss of the period in which it becomes 
receivable. Accordingly the group accounts for the R&D Tax Incentive in the same year as the expenses to which it relates.

income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

•	 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or

•	 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the timing 
of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred tax assets 
recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying 
amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.

Kazia Therapeutics Limited (the ‘parent entity’) and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed an income 
tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. Kazia Therapeutics Limited as the parent entity discloses all of 
the deferred tax assets of the tax consolidated group in relation to tax losses carried forward (after elimination of inter-group 
transactions). The tax consolidated group has applied the ‘separate taxpayer in the group’ allocation approach in determining 
the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. 

As the tax consolidation group continues to generate tax losses there has been no reason for the company to enter a tax 
funding agreement with members of the tax consolidation group. 

current and non-current classification
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 

An asset is current when: it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; it is held 
primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash 
or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it 
is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 to 60 days. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off by 
reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default or delinquency in payments (more than 120 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be 
impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are 
not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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investments and other financial assets
Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial 
measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are subsequently measured at either 
amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on the purpose of the 
acquisition and subsequent reclassification to other categories is restricted. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) include financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or 
that meet certain conditions and are designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition. 

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial 
assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active 
market exists. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities, that are either designated 
as available-for-sale or not classified as any other category. After initial recognition, fair value movements are recognised in 
other comprehensive income through the available-for-sale reserve in equity. Cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the 
available-for-sale reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 

Impairment of financial assets
The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower concessions due to 
economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy 
or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset; or observable data indicating 
that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. 

The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
If there is a reversal of impairment, the reversal cannot exceed the amortised cost that would have been recognised had the 
impairment not been made and is reversed to profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are considered impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in value 
below initial cost. Subsequent increments in value are recognised in other comprehensive income through the available-for-sale 
reserve. 

property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and equipment over their 
expected useful lives from 2.5 to 10 years.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

research and development
Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred. Development costs are 
capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project will deliver future economic benefits and these 
benefits can be measured reliably. 

leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the 
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively retains 
substantially all such risks and benefits.

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the fair value of the leased assets, or if lower, the 
present value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability 
and the finance costs, so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful 
life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the consolidated entity will obtain ownership at the end of the 
lease term. 

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 

intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at 
the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible assets 
are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently 
measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising from the 
derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected 
pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or period. 

Patents and trademarks
Significant costs associated with patents and intellectual property are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
period of their expected benefit, being their finite useful life of 5 years. 

Software
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of software over their expected useful 
lives from 2.5 to 10 years.

Licensing agreement for GDC-0084
The Licensing Agreement asset was initially brought to account at fair value, and is being amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the period of its expected benefit, being the remaining life of the patent, which was15 years from the date of acquisition. 

impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a 
cash-generating unit. 

trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

compound financial instruments
Compound financial instruments issued by the consolidated entity comprise convertible notes that can be converted to share 
capital at the option of the holder, and the number of shares does not vary with changes in fair value. The liability component of 
a financial liability is recognised at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity 
component is recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole 
and the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity 
components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method, whereas the equity component is not remeasured. Interest, gains and losses relating to 
the financial liability are recognised in profit or loss. On conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity; no gain or loss 
is recognised on conversion. 

provisions
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date is 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

Defined contribution superannuation expense
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees under the terms of the Employee Share Option 
Plan (‘ESOP’) and consultants as compensation for services performed.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using 
either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the 
impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine 
whether the consolidated entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any 
other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate 
of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 
periods.

•	 during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied by the 
expired portion of the vesting period.

•	 from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the 
reporting date.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions are 
considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value of 
the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is 
treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not satisfied 
during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the 
award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award is 
treated as if they were a modification.

finance costs
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred, including interest on short-term and long-term borrowings.

fair value measurement
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or 
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interest. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best 
use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 
value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed each reporting date and transfers 
between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not 
available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and 
reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is 
undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where applicable, 
with external sources of data.

issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, including share based payments relating to the 
issue of shares are, shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Kazia Therapeutics Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Goods and Services tax (‘GSt’) and other similar taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.

New accounting Standards and interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, 
have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2018. The consolidated 
entity’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the 
consolidated entity, are set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and its consequential amendments
This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018 and completes phases I and III of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 (AASB 139) ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’. This standard introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets, using a single 
approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortised cost or fair value. Chapter 6 ‘Hedge Accounting’ 
supersedes the general hedge accounting requirements in AASB 139 and provides a new simpler approach to hedge 
accounting that is intended to more closely align with risk management activities undertaken by entities when hedging financial 
and non-financial risks. 

In December 2014, the AASB made further changes to the classification and measurement rules and also introduced a new 
impairment model. These latest amendments now complete the new financial instruments standard.

The consolidated entity will adopt this standard and the amendments from 1 July 2018, and from that date assets previously 
treated as ‘available for sale’ will now be treated as fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). Based on our assessment, the 
Standard is not expected to have a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements 
when it is first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2019, apart from any gains or losses on investments in listed assets which 
would previously have been accounted for as ‘available for sale’. Had the new standard been applied during the year ended 30 
June 2018, there would be no impact on the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 because impairment losses 
on available-for-sale assets were taken to profit and loss in the current financial year.

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a single 
standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be 
identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted 
for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations 
on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable 
prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately 
as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer 
obtains control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, 
typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select 
an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation 
is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity’s statement of financial position as a contract liability, a 
contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment. 
Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the 
significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs to obtain 
or fulfil a contract with a customer.

The consolidated entity will adopt this standard and the amendments from 1 July 2018. When this Standard is first adopted 
for the year ending 30 June 2019 there will be no material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial 
statements. This is because the entity is still in the R&D stage of its development and is not anticipating generating material 
revenue streams during the year ending 30 June 2019.

AASB 16 Leases
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces AASB 
117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject to exceptions, a 
‘right-of-use’ asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, measured as the present value of the unavoidable 
future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and 
leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists 
whereby either a ‘right-of-use’ asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability 
corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating 
lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and 
an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses 
associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA 
(Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced 
by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the 
lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) 
component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. 

Based on our assessment, the Standard is not expected to have a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised 
in the financial statements when it is first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2020, because the Company is not a party to any 
material leases.

Note 3. critical accouNtiNG judGemeNtS, eStimateS aNd aSSumptioNS
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the 
related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed as 
follows:

research and development expenses 
The Directors do not consider the development programs to be sufficiently advanced to reliably determine the economic 
benefits and technical feasibility to justify capitalisation of development costs. These costs have been recognised as an expense 
when incurred.

Research and development expenses relate primarily to the cost of conducting human clinical and pre-clinical trials. Clinical 
development costs are a significant component of research and development expenses. Estimates have been used in 
determining the expense liability under certain clinical trial contracts where services have been performed but not yet invoiced. 
Generally the costs, and therefore estimates, associated with clinical trial contracts are based on the number of patients, drug 
administration cycles, the type of treatment and the outcome being measured. The length of time before actual amounts can 
be determined will vary depending on length of the patient cycles and the timing of the invoices by the clinical trial partners. 

Note 2. SiGNificaNt accouNtiNG policieS (coNtiNued)
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clinical trial expenses
Estimates have been used in determining the expense liability under certain clinical trial contracts being performed but not yet 
invoiced. 

Share-based payment transactions
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Binomial model taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions 
relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity.

fair value measurement hierarchy
The consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant 
to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective.

research and development tax rebate
The R&D Tax Incentive is recognised when a reliable estimate of the amounts receivable can be made. For the year ended 30 
June 2018 the group has estimated the rebate which will be received in early 2019 and has accrued that amount as income in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Business combinations
The consolidated entity entered into a business combination in the prior year. The transaction was complex, involving the 
licensing of an asset from one party and the purchase of a company from another party. Significant judgement was required 
in determining that the transaction was a business combination and in relation to the identification and valuation of assets and 
liabilities acquired.

Net investment in foreign operations
Intercompany loans are treated as net investment in foreign operations as repayment of such loans is neither planned nor likely 
to occur.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign operation 
shall be recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net 
investment.

contingent consideration
Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a business combination (see 
Note 33). Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the key assumptions including probability of 
milestones occurring, timing of settlement and discount rates.

Note 4. operatiNG SeGmeNtS
identification of reportable operating segments
The consolidated entity’s operating segment is based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of 
Directors (being the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’)) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of 
resources. 

The consolidated entity operates in the pharmaceutical research and development business. There are no operating segments 
for which discrete financial information exists. 

The information reported to the CODM, on at least a quarterly basis, is the consolidated results as shown in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position. 

Major customers
During the current and prior financial year there were no major customers. 

Note 3. critical accouNtiNG judGemeNtS, eStimateS aNd 
aSSumptioNS (coNtiNued)
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Note 5. reveNue
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Bank interest 119,170 248,837 

Note 6. other iNcome
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Net foreign exchange gain 223,998 - 

Payroll tax rebate 235 7,000 

Subsidies and grants 685,033 130,064 

Reimbursement of expenses 8,129 17,031 

Gain on legal settlement (note 39) 8,410,680 - 

Research and development rebate 2,200,000 8,409,336 

Gain on revaluation of contingent consideration 1,461,228 - 

other income 12,989,303 8,563,431 

Note 7. expeNSeS
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation

Leasehold improvements 191,884 52,179 

Property, plant and equipment 18,759 47,373 

Total depreciation 210,643 99,552 

Amortisation

Patents and intellectual property 249,906 570,104 

Software 2,138 5,404 

GDC licensing agreement 1,084,346 744,613 

Total amortisation 1,336,390 1,320,121

Total depreciation and amortisation 1,547,033 1,419,673

Impairment

Leasehold improvements 142,851 - 

Finance costs

Interest and finance charges paid/payable 70 276 

Rental expense relating to operating leases

Minimum lease payments 300,528 334,673

Superannuation expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 170,456 287,656

Employee benefits expense excluding superannuation

Employee benefits expense excluding superannuation 2,212,562 4,077,811

Other expenses

Revaluation of contingent consideration - 764,635 
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Note 8. iNcome tax BeNefit
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit and tax at the statutory rate

Loss before income tax benefit (6,344,499) (10,868,921)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (1,744,737) (2,988,953)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable 
income:

Share-based payments 45,436 130,677 

Gain/loss on revaluation of contingent consideration (401,837) 210,274 

Capitalised expenses - 234,369 

Impact of foreign tax rate differential - (160)

Research and Development claim 605,000 1,281,771 

Other non-deductible expenses - 4,600 

(1,496,138) (1,127,422)

Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped - (678)

Tax losses and timing differences not recognised 1,190,881 929,556 

Income tax benefit (305,257) (198,544)

Note 8. iNcome tax BeNefit (coNtiNued)
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Tax losses not recognised

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised - Australia 50,330,712 49,139,830

Potential tax benefit @ 27.5% 13,840,946 13,513,453

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised - US 2,525,188 2,173,440

Potential tax benefit at statutory tax rates @ 21% - US 530,289 456,422

Note 9. curreNt aSSetS - caSh aNd caSh equivaleNtS
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 2,956,182 8,454,784 

Short-term deposits 3,000,000 6,000,000 

5,956,182 14,454,784



D
irectors’ Report

N
otes to the Financial Statem

ents
Auditor’s Independence D

eclaration
Independent Auditor’s Report

Financial Statem
ents

Shareholder Inform
ation

 Annual Report 2018 45

Note 10. curreNt aSSetS - trade aNd other receivaBleS
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Trade receivables 1,130 231,065 

R&D tax rebate receivable 2,200,000 3,973,052 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables - (225,998)

2,201,130 3,978,119

Other receivables 119,890 77,207 

Deposits held 608,532 578,657 

Less: Provision for impairment of deposits held (394,073) (371,471)

2,535,479 4,262,512

Deposits held included a guarantee to the value of €250,000 ($394,073) for the “APO Trend” case. Please refer to note 29 for 
further information on this matter.

impairment of receivables
The consolidated entity has recognised a loss of nil (2016: loss of nil) in profit or loss in respect of impairment of receivables 
(excluding ‘deposits held’) for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

The ageing of the impaired receivables provided for above are as follows:

consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Trade receivables over 6 months overdue - 225,998

Note 11. curreNt aSSetS - iNcome tax refuNd due
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Income tax refund due - 4,963 

Note 12. curreNt aSSetS - other
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Prepayments 767,954 758,082

Note 13. NoN-curreNt aSSetS - fiNaNcial aSSetS
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Listed ordinary shares - available-for-sale 3,679,542 21,803 

Unlisted shares and options - FVTPL 655,921 - 

4,335,463 21,803

Refer to note 26 for further information on fair value measurement.
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Note 14. NoN-curreNt aSSetS - property, plaNt aNd equipmeNt
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Leasehold improvements - at cost - 466,054 

Less: Accumulated depreciation - (82,440)

- 383,614 

Plant and equipment - at cost 1,845 201,296 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (666) (95,305)

1,179 105,991 

1,179 489,605

reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

leasehold 
improvement

plant and 
equipment total

consolidated $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 434,143 157,620 591,763 

Additions 7,218 6,061 13,279 

Disposals (5,568) (10,317) (15,885)

Depreciation expense (52,179) (47,373) (99,552)

Balance at 30 June 2017 383,614 105,991 489,605 

Additions 6,705 2,480 9,185 

Disposals (55,584) (88,533) (144,117)

Impairment of assets (142,851) - (142,851)

Depreciation expense (191,884) (18,759) (210,643)

Balance at 30 June 2018 - 1,179 1,179
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Note 15. NoN-curreNt assets - iNtaNgibles
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Patents and intellectual property - at cost 2,850,517 2,850,517 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (2,850,517) (2,600,611)

- 249,906 

Software - at cost - 11,070 

Less: Accumulated amortisation - (5,798)

- 5,272 

Licensing agreement - at acquired fair value (Note 33) 16,407,789 16,407,789 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,828,959) (744,613)

14,578,830 15,663,176 

14,578,830 15,918,354

reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

software

Patents and 
intellectual 

property
gDc licensing 

agreement total
consolidated $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 2,231 820,010 - 822,241 

Additions 8,445 - - 8,445 

Additions through business combinations 
(note 33) - - 16,407,789 16,407,789 

Amortisation expense (5,404) (570,104) (744,613) (1,320,121)

Balance at 30 June 2017 5,272 249,906 15,663,176 15,918,354 

Disposals (3,134) - - (3,134)

Amortisation expense (2,138) (249,906) (1,084,346) (1,336,390)

Balance at 30 June 2018 - - 14,578,830 14,578,830 

Note 16. curreNt liabilities - traDe aND other Payables
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Trade payables 1,406,887 1,248,890 

Accrued payables 575,871 613,848 

Other current liability 84,000 9,816 

2,066,758 1,872,554 

Refer to note 25 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 17. curreNt liabilities - ProvisioNs
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Employee benefits 90,744 155,149 

Lease make good 70,583 - 

161,327 155,149
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Note 18. curreNt liabilities - coNtiNgeNt coNsiDeratioN
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Contingent consideration 1,521,228 3,315,401 

Note 19. NoN-curreNt liabilities - DeferreD tax
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Deferred tax liability associated with Licensing Agreement 4,009,178 4,314,435

Amount expected to be settled within 12 months 305,257 305,257 

Amount expected to be settled after more than 12 months 3,703,921 4,009,178 

4,009,178 4,314,435 

Note 20. NoN-curreNt liabilities - coNtiNgeNt coNsiDeratioN
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

Contingent consideration 1,036,474 703,599 

Contingent consideration is payable on the achievement of certain pre-determined milestones. Certain of the contingent 
payments are contracted to be satisfied by issue of shares, and other such payments may be settled by the issue of shares or 
the payment of cash, at the discretion of the consolidated entity.

The milestones were probability weighted for valuation purposes and discounted to present value to arrive at the fair value of 
contingent consideration on acquisition date. During the financial year, the probability weightings were revised given current 
anticipated timelines, and a portion of the discount has unwound with the resultant gain on contingent consideration being 
recognised in profit and loss.

Note 21. equity - coNtributeD equity
consolidated

2018 2017 2018 2017
shares shares $ $

ordinary shares - fully paid 48,409,621 483,287,914 31,575,824 193,769,409 

Movements in ordinary share capital
Details Date shares issue price $

Balance 1 July 2016 429,733,982 191,301,217 

Issue of shares - Note 2 05 September 2016 400,000 $0.105 42,000 

Issue of shares - Convertible note conversion 14 September 2016 20,000,000 $0.025 500,000 

Issue of shares - Acquisition of Glioblast Pty Limited 
(Note 33) 31 October 2016 17,153,932 $0.090 1,543,854 

Issue of shares - Convertible note conversion 01 November 2016 16,000,000 $0.025 400,000 

Share issue transaction costs - $0.000 (17,662)

Balance 30 June 2017 483,287,914 193,769,409 

Share consolidation - Note 1 17 November 2017 (434,958,293) $0.000 -

Issue of shares - Note 2 30 November 2017 80,000 $0.370 29,600 

Cancellation of share capital - Note 3 31 December 2017 - $0.000 (162,223,185)

Balance 30 June 2018 48,409,621 31,575,824 
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ordinary shares
Note 1 - Share consolidation 10 to 1, which was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 
15 November 2017

Note 2 - Shares issued to the Company’s Scientific Advisory Board in return for services

Note 3 - Section 258F of the Corporations Act allows a company to reduce its share capital by cancelling any paid-
up share capital that is lost or is not represented by available assets. Given the long history of the consolidated entity 
and changes in the principal activity in recent years, the Directors believe that $162,223,185 of the parent entity’s share 
capital satisfies the criteria in Section 258F of the Corporations Act and accordingly this amount of the ordinary share 
capital has been cancelled

ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and 
the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.

share buy-back
There is no current on-market share buy-back.

capital risk management
The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is 
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The capital structure of the consolidated entity consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity 
holders. The overall strategy of the consolidated entity is to continue its drug development programs, which depends 
on raising sufficient funds, through a variety of sources including issuing of additional share capital, as may be required 
from time to time.

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the prior year.

Note 22. equity - other coNtributeD equity
consolidated

2018 2017
$ $

convertible note - triaxial 464,000 600,000 

On 4 December 2014, the consolidated entity and the convertible note holder (‘Triaxial’) signed a Convertible 
Note Deed Poll (‘Deed’) which superseded the precedent Loan Agreement between Triaxial shareholders and 
the consolidated entity. The Deed extinguishes the liability created by the Loan Agreement and provides that the 
Convertible Notes will convert into a pre-determined number of ordinary shares on the achievement of defined 
milestones established in the schedule of the Deed. Accordingly the convertible note has been reclassified as an equity 
instrument rather than debt instrument.

During the Financial year ended 30 June 2017, the Company reached two milestones triggering the conversion of a 
portion of its convertible note as follows;

•	 on 11 August 2016 the Company announced the submission of an IND application. On 10 September 2016, the Company 
received a letter from the FDA advising the study may proceed triggering conversion of 20,000,000 ordinary shares.

•	 on 31 October 2016, the Company announced it had licensed a Phase II ready molecule triggering the conversion of 
16,000,000 ordinary shares.

The remaining portion of the convertible note will be exercised at the holders’ discretion on completion of Phase 
II clinical trial or achieving Breakthrough Designation. Completion will be deemed to occur upon the receipt by 
the consolidated entity of a signed study report or notification of the designation. There is a possibility for an early 
conversion of the convertible notes if a third party acquires more than 50% of the issued capital of the consolidated 
entity.

During the financial year, a portion of the convertible notes was extinguished (Note 39). The remaining convertible note 
at year end may be converted into 1,856,000 ordinary shares in the consolidated entity (post share consolidation).

Note 21. equity - coNtributeD equity (coNtiNueD)
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Note 23. equity - reserves
available-for-sale reserve
The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

foreign currency reserve
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations to Australian dollars.

share-based payments reserve
The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and executive directors as part of 
their remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services.

Note 24. equity - DiviDeNDs
Dividends
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

franking credits
There were no franking credits available at the reporting date.

Note 25. fiNaNcial iNstruMeNts
financial risk management objectives
The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
consolidated entity uses different methods to measure and manage the different types of risks to which it is exposed. These 
methods include monitoring the levels of exposure to interest rates and foreign exchange, ageing analysis and monitoring of 
specific credit allowances to manage credit risk, and, rolling cash flow forecasts to manage liquidity risk.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk
The consolidated entity operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars (‘USD’). Foreign exchange risk arises from future transactions and 
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in 
foreign operations.

As of 30 June 2018, the consolidated entity did not hold derivative financial instruments in managing its foreign currency, 
however, the consolidated entity may from time to time enter into hedging arrangements where circumstances are deemed 
appropriate. The consolidated entity used natural hedging to reduce the foreign currency risk, which involved processing USD 
payments from cash held in USD. Foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency of Australian Dollars (‘AUD’) have exposure to 
the local currency of these subsidiaries and any other currency these subsidiaries trade in.

The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date was as follows:

assets liabilities

2018 2017 2018 2017
consolidated $ $ $ $

US dollars 316,588 5,797,242 895,525 1,009,619 

Pound Sterling - - - 84,475 

Indian Rupee - 75 - -

316,588 5,797,317 895,525 1,094,094 

The consolidated entity had net liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of $578,937 as at 30 June 2018 (2017: net assets 
$4,703,223).
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If the AUD had strengthened against the USD by 10% (2017: 10%) then this would have had the following impact: 

auD strengthened auD weakened

consolidated - 2018 % change

effect on 
profit before 

tax
effect on 

equity % change

effect on 
profit before 

tax
effect on 

equity

US dollars 10% 57,894 57,894 (10%) (57,894) (57,894)

auD strengthened auD weakened

consolidated - 2017 % change

effect on 
profit before 

tax
effect on 

equity % change

effect on 
profit before 

tax
effect on 

equity

US dollars 10% (478,762) (478,762) (10%) 478,762 478,762 

Euros 10% - - (10%) - -

Pound Sterling 10% 8,448 8,448 (10%) (8,448) (8,448)

Indian Rupee 10% (8) (8) (10%) 8 8 

(470,322) (470,322) 470,322 470,322 

Price risk
The consolidated entity is not exposed to any significant price risk.

interest rate risk
The consolidated entity’s exposure to market interest rates relate primarily to the investments of cash balances.

The consolidated entity has cash reserves held primarily in Australian dollars and United States dollars and places funds on 
deposit with financial institutions for periods generally not exceeding three months.

As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following variable interest rate balances:

2018 2017
Weighted 

average 
interest rate balance

Weighted 
average 

interest rate balance
consolidated % $ % $

Cash at bank and in hand 0.04% 2,956,182 0.10% 8,454,784 

Short term deposits 2.35% 3,000,000 2.40% 6,000,000 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 5,956,182 14,454,784 

The consolidated entity has cash and cash equivalents totalling $5,956,182 (2017: $14,454,784). An official increase/decrease 
in interest rates of 100 basis points (2017: 100 basis points) would have a favourable/adverse effect on profit before tax and 
equity of $59,562 (2017: $144,548) per annum. The percentage change is based on the expected volatility of interest rates using 
market data and analysts forecasts.

credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
consolidated entity. The entity is not exposed to significant credit risk on receivables.

The consolidated entity places its cash deposits with high credit quality financial institutions and by policy, limits the amount 
of credit exposure to any single counter-party. The consolidated entity is averse to principal loss and ensures the safety and 
preservation of its invested funds by limiting default risk, market risk, and reinvestment risk. The consolidated entity mitigates 
default risk by constantly positioning its portfolio to respond appropriately to a significant reduction in a credit rating of any 
financial institution.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the consolidated entity. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited as 
the counter parties are banks with high credit ratings.

Credit risk is managed by limiting the amount of credit exposure to any single counter-party for cash deposits.

liquidity risk
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by continuously monitoring 
actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. In particular, contingent 
consideration may be satisfied either by payment of cash or by issue of shares, at the discretion of the entity.

Note 25. fiNaNcial iNstruMeNts (coNtiNueD)
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Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position.

consolidated - 2018

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate 
%

1 year or less 
$

between 
1 and 2 

years 
$

between 
2 and 5 

years 
$

over 5 
years 

$

remaining 
contractual 

maturities 
$

Non-derivatives

Trade payables - 1,406,887 - - - 1,406,887 

Accrued payables - 575,871 - - - 575,871 

Contingent consideration - 4,250,000 - 4,650,000 1,394,000 10,294,000 

Total non-derivatives 6,232,758 - 4,650,000 1,394,000 12,276,758 

consolidated - 2017

Weighted 
average 
interest  

rate
%

1 year or less 
$

between  
1 and 2  

years 
$

between  
2 and 5  

years 
$

over 5  
years 

$

remaining 
contractual 

maturities 
$

Non-derivatives

Trade payables - 1,248,890 - - - 1,248,890 

Accrued payables - 613,848 - - - 613,848 

Contingent consideration - 4,250,000 - 4,650,000 1,394,000 10,294,000 

Total non-derivatives 6,112,738 - 4,650,000 1,394,000 12,156,738 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above.

Note 25. fiNaNcial iNstruMeNts (coNtiNueD)
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Note 26. fair value MeasureMeNt
fair value hierarchy
The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

level 1 level 2 level 3 total
consolidated - 2018 $ $ $ $

Assets

Ordinary shares - listed 3,679,542 - - 3,679,542 

Unlisted options - - 655,921 655,921 

Total assets 3,679,542 - 655,921 4,335,463 

Liabilities

Contingent consideration - - 2,557,702 2,557,702 

Total liabilities - - 2,557,702 2,557,702 

level 1 level 2 level 3 total
consolidated - 2017 $ $ $ $

Assets

Ordinary shares - listed 21,803 - - 21,803 

Total assets 21,803 - - 21,803 

Liabilities

Contingent consideration - - 4,019,000 4,019,000 

Total liabilities - - 4,019,000 4,019,000 

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year.

The fair value of contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Glioblast Pty Ltd and the licence agreement is estimated 
by probability-weighting the expected future cash outflows, adjusting for risk and discounting.

The effects on the fair value of risk and uncertainty in the future cash flows are dealt with by adjusting the estimated cash flows 
rather than adjusting the discount rate.

Note 27. Key MaNageMeNt PersoNNel Disclosures
compensation
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity 
is set out below:

consolidated
2018 2017

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,635,719 2,513,066 

Post-employment benefits 90,490 154,475 

Termination benefits - 315,372 

Share-based payments 117,027 403,257 

1,843,236 3,386,170 

Please refer to note 31 for other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties.
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Note 28. RemuNeRatioN of auditoRs
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, the 
auditor of the company:

Consolidated
2018 2017

$ $

Audit services - Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

Audit or review of the financial statements 130,833 132,071 

Other services - Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

F3 review 11,245 - 

142,078 132,071 

Note 29. CoNtiNgeNt liabilities
The consolidated entity is continuing to prosecute its Intellectual Property (‘IP’) rights against an Austrian company, APOtrend. 
At 30 June 2018 the Austrian Supreme Court has rendered a final decision on the patent infringement. As a result, Kazia is 
entitled to make a claim against APOtrend in relation to two of the three products which were the subject of the claim, while 
for the third product, Kazia’s claim was denied. In respect of this third product, APOtrend is entitled to claim compensation for 
damages caused by a preliminary injunction. At the date of this report, no claim has been made by either party.

The consolidated entity has provided a guarantee to the value of €250,000 ($394,073) with the court to confirm its 
commitment to the ongoing enforcement process. As at 30 June 2018, the receivable balance continues to be fully impaired on 
the basis that it is unlikely to be recovered.

Note 30. CommitmeNts
Consolidated
2018 2017

$ $

Lease commitments - operating

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year - 249,704 

One to five years - 78,521 

- 328,225 

Operating lease commitments includes contracted amounts for leases of premises and plant and equipment under non-
cancellable operating leases expiring within three years. 

Note 31. Related paRty tRaNsaCtioNs
parent entity
Kazia Therapeutics Limited is the parent entity.

subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 34.

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 27 and the remuneration report included in the directors’ 
report.

transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Consolidated
2018 2017

$ $

Payment for other expenses:

In addition to Director’s fees, Consultancy fees for executive duties were paid to 
Kumara Inc, a corporation in which Ian Phillips is a Director and has a beneficial 
interest. - 20,531 

In addition to Director’s fees, Consultancy fees for executive duties were paid to 
John O’Connor. - 37,500 

There was no other transaction with KMP and their related parties.
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Receivable from and payable to related parties
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

loans to/from related parties
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

terms and conditions
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

Note 32. paReNt eNtity iNfoRmatioN
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
parent

2018 2017
$ $

Loss after income tax (5,378,469) (9,732,539)

Total comprehensive income (5,378,469) (9,732,539)

statement of financial position
parent

2018 2017
$ $

Total current assets 7,902,064 17,355,670 

Total assets 26,817,536 33,893,910 

Total current liabilities 1,714,055 3,538,190 

Total liabilities 6,759,707 8,556,224 

Equity

Contributed equity 31,575,823 193,769,408 

Other contributed equity 464,000 600,000 

Reserves 2,205,789 2,040,688 

Accumulated losses (14,187,783) (171,072,410)

Total equity 20,057,829 25,337,686 

guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
As a condition of the ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/785, Kazia Therapeutics Limited and the subsidiaries, entered into a 
Deed of Cross Guarantee on 28 May 1999. The effect of the deed is that Kazia Therapeutics Limited has guaranteed to pay any 
deficiency in the event of winding up of the controlled entities. The subsidiaries have also given a similar guarantee in the event 
that Kazia Therapeutics Limited is wound up. Refer to note 35.

Reserves comprise Share Based Payments reserve of $2,242,734 (2017: $2,077,512) and Available for Sale reserve of $(36,824) 
(2017: $(36,824))

Contingent liabilities
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, except as detailed in note 29.

Capital commitments - property, plant and equipment
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017.

significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 2, except 
for the following:

•	 Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.
•	 Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an 

indicator of an impairment of the investment.

Note 31. Related paRty tRaNsaCtioNs (CoNtiNued)
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Note 33. busiNess CombiNatioNs
glioblast pty ltd
During the prior financial year, Kazia announced it acquired 100% of the issued shares in Glioblast Pty Ltd, a privately-held, 
neuro-oncology-focused Australian biotechnology company. On the same day, Kazia entered into a worldwide licensing 
agreement with Genentech to develop and commercialise GDC-0084 (“the Molecule”). These events have been considered 
together and accounted for as a business combination in accordance with AASB 3.

Details of the acquisition are as follows:

fair value
2017

$

Intellectual property 16,407,789 

Deferred tax liability (4,512,142)

Net assets acquired 11,895,647 

Goodwill -

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 11,895,647 

Representing:

Cash paid or payable to vendor 7,097,152 

Kazia Therapeutics Limited shares issued to vendor 1,543,854 

Contingent consideration 3,254,641 

11,895,647 

Consolidated
2017

$

Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 16,407,789 

Less: contingent consideration (3,254,641)

Less: shares issued by company as part of consideration (1,543,854)

Less: Deferred Tax Liability (4,512,142)

Net cash used 7,097,152 

Consideration transferred
Acquisition-related costs amounting to $345,000 are not included as part of consideration transferred and have been 
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as part of other 
expenses. 

Goodwill
There is no goodwill arising from this business combination.

Glioblast’s contribution to the Group’s results 
Glioblast contributed $nil to the Group’s revenues and profits, respectively from the date of the acquisition to 30 June 
2017. Had the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2016, the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 would be 
unchanged.
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Contingent consideration 
The Glioblast acquisition contains four contingent milestone payments, the first two milestone payments are to be settled with 
Kazia shares, and the third and fourth milestone payments are to be settled with either cash or Kazia shares at the discretion of 
Kazia.

The Genentech Agreement comprises of one milestone payment payable on the first commercial licensed product sale.

The range of outcomes of contingent consideration are summarised below:

milestone

Contingent 
consideration-

High

Contingent 
consideration-

low

Milestone 1 1,250,000 1,250,000 

Milestone 2 1,250,000 1,250,000 

Milestone 3 3,705,000 3,000,000 

Milestone 4 4,199,000 3,400,000 

Milestone 5 1,394,000 1,394,000 

Total 11,798,000 10,294,000 

Each milestone payment is probability weighted for valuation purposes. The milestone payments are discounted to present 
value, using a discount rate of 35% per annum, if they are expected to be achieved more than 12 months after the valuation 
date. The contingent consideration was revalued at 30 June 2018 to take into account revised estimated probabilities of certain 
milestones being achieved.

Kazia is also required to pay royalties to Genentech in relation to net sales. These payments are related to future financial 
performance, and are not considered as part of the consideration in relation to the Genentech Agreement.

Note 34. iNteRests iN subsidiaRies
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 2:

ownership interest

principal place of business/ 2018 2017
Name Country of incorporation % %

Kazia Laboratories Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Kazia Research Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Kazia Therapeutics Inc. United States of America 100.00% 100.00% 

Glioblast Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Note 35. deed of CRoss guaRaNtee
The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others:

Kazia Therapeutics Limited

Kazia Laboratories Pty Ltd

Kazia Research Pty Ltd

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare financial statements 
and directors’ report.

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/785, and as there 
are no other parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by Kazia Therapeutics Limited, they also represent the 
‘Extended Closed Group’.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the 
‘Closed Group’ differ from those of the consolidated entity in the following respects:

•	 the General and Administrative expenses of the closed group, and the loss before and after income tax, are lower than 
those of the consolidated entity by approximately $435,000.

•	 the assets and liabilities of the closed group differ from those of the consolidated entity by immaterial amounts of lower 
than $20,000 on a line by line basis, and the net assets of the closed group differ from those of the consolidated entity by 
less than $1,000. 

Accordingly, the additional statements have not been prepared.

Note 33. busiNess CombiNatioNs (CoNtiNued)
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Note 36. eveNts afteR tHe RepoRtiNg peRiod
In July 2018 the consolidated entity announced that it has entered into an agreement with TroBio Therapeutics Pty Ltd, a 
privately held start-up, in which all interests in the ‘next generation’ anti tropomyosin (ATM) program would be assigned to 
TroBio in return for 12% of the equity in that company. Completion of the transaction remains conditional on the Department of 
Industry, Innovation and Science agreeing to novate the CRC-P grant to TroBio. 

In July 2018 the company lodged an SEC Form F3 which will allow the Company to issue various types of securities, including 
ordinary shares and/or warrants, from time to time over a period of three years. Any ordinary shares issued will trade in the form 
of American Depository Shares which currently trade on NASDAQ under the symbol KZIA. The company is not obliged to issue 
any securities under this arrangement, but if it does, the amount and timing is at the discretion of the company. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial 
years.

Note 37. eaRNiNgs peR sHaRe
Consolidated
2018 2017

$ $

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Kazia Therapeutics Limited (6,039,242) (10,670,377)

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings 
per share 48,376,525 467,833,849 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings 
per share 48,376,525 467,833,849 

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (12.48) (2.28)

Diluted earnings per share (12.48) (2.28)

1,865,000 unlisted convertible notes with a face value of $464,000, 4,798,266 unlisted options and 3,148,400 listed options 
have been excluded from the above calculations as they were anti-dilutive.
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Note 38. sHaRe-based paymeNts
The options in tranches 1 - 3 in the table below have been issued as consideration for services rendered in relation to capital 
raising conducted during a previous year by the consolidated entity.

The options in tranches 4 - 10 in the table below have been issued to employees under the ESOP. In total, $165,222 (2017: 
$475,189) of employee remuneration expense (all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions) has 
been included in profit or loss during the year and credited to share-based payment reserve. 

2018

grant date expiry date

exercise 
price 
(post 

consol)

balance at 
the start of 

the year granted
share 

Consolidation

forfeited on 
cessation of 
employment

balance at 
the end of 

the year

1 04/03/2015 16/12/2019 $1.500 466,470 - (419,823) - 46,647

2 04/03/2015 18/12/2019 $1.500 199,521 - (179,569) - 19,952 

3 24/06/2015 30/06/2020 $4.000 5,190,000 - (4,671,000) - 519,000 

4 15/11/2015 16/11/2020 $2.200 3,633,334 - - (3,396,667) 236,667 

5 18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $1.990 3,000,000 - (2,700,000) - 300,000 

6 18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $1.990 2,000,000 - (1,800,000) - 200,000 

7 18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $2.610 2,500,000 - (2,250,000) - 250,000 

8 05/09/2016 05/09/2021 $1.630 2,000,000 - (1,800,000) (150,000) 50,000 

9 12/10/2016 17/10/2021 $1.560 620,000 - (558,000) - 62,000 

10 31/10/2016 01/11/2021 $1.380 500,000 - (450,000) (37,500) 12,500 

11 21/11/2016 23/11/2021 $1.380 2,000,000 - (1,800,000) (150,000) 50,000 

12 07/08/2017 07/08/2022 $0.670 - 224,000 - - 224,000 

13 05/02/2018 05/02/2023 $0.780 - 440,000 - - 440,000 

22,109,325 664,000 (16,628,392) (3,734,167) 2,410,766 

Weighted average exercise price $0.244 $0.740 $0.000 $2.140 $2.120

Options from Tranche 1 to Tranche 6, Tranches 8, 10 and 11 listed above were vested and exercisable at the end of the period. 
Options from Tranche 9 listed above include 1/4 vested options at the end of the period. 
All remaining options are expected to vest in future periods. No options have expired during the financial year.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the 30 June 2018 is 2.97 years. 

2017

grant date expiry date
exercise 

price

balance at 
the start of 

the year granted exercised

forfeited on 
cessation of 
employment

balance at 
the end of 

the year

1 04/03/2015 16/12/2019 $0.150 466,470 - - - 466,470 

2 04/03/2015 18/12/2019 $0.150 199,521 - - - 199,521 

3 24/06/2015 30/06/2020 $0.400 5,190,000 - - - 5,190,000 

4 15/10/2015 16/11/2020 $0.220 5,200,008 - - (1,566,674) 3,633,334 

5 18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $0.199 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 

6 18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $0.199 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 

7 18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $0.261 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 

8 05/09/2016 05/09/2021 $0.163 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

9 12/10/2016 17/10/2021 $0.156 - 620,000 - - 620,000 

10 31/10/2016 01/11/2021 $0.138 - 500,000 - - 500,000 

11 21/11/2016 23/11/2021 $0.138 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

18,555,999 5,120,000 - (1,566,674) 22,109,325 

Weighted average exercise price $0.268 $0.150 $0.000 $0.220 $0.244 

* Options from Tranche 1 to Tranche 3 listed above were vested and exercisable at the end of the period. 
Options from Tranche 4 listed above include 1/3 vested options at the end of the period. 
Options from Tranche 5 listed above include 1/4 vested and exercisable options at the end of the period.
All remaining options are expected to vest in future periods. No options have expired during the year.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the 30 June 2017 is 3.55 years.
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employee share options
During the year ended 30 June 2018, 664,000 options have been issued to the employees by the consolidated entity pursuant 
to the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan. 
•	 Tranche 9 of 224,000 options vesting equally over 4 years 
•	 Tranche 10 of 440,000 options vesting equally over 2 years in 6 monthly intervals
An option will only vest if the option holder continues to be a full-time employee with the Company or an Associated Company 
during the vesting period relating to the option.
Conditions for an option to be exercised: 
•	 The option must have vested and a period of 1 year from the date the option was issued must have expired;
•	 Option holder must have provided the Company with an Exercise Notice and have paid the Exercise Price for the option.
•	 The Exercise Notice must be for the exercise of at least the Minimum Number of Options;
•	 The Exercise Notice must have been provided to the Company and Exercise Price paid before the expiry of 5 years from the 

date the Option is issued.

options valuation
In order to obtain a fair valuation of these options, the following assumptions have been made:
The Black Scholes option valuation methodology has been used with the expectation that the majority of these options would 
be exercised towards the end of the option term. Inputs into the Black Scholes model includes the share price at grant date, 
exercise price, volatility, and the risk free rate of a five year Australian Government Bond on grant date.

Risk-free rate and grant date 
For all tranches, the risk-free rate of a five-year Australian Government bond on grant date was used. Please refer to the table below 
for details. 
Options in Tranches 6 to 13 have various vesting periods and exercising conditions. These options are unlisted as at 
30/06/2018.
No dividends are expected to be declared or paid by the consolidated entity during the terms of the options.
The underlying expected volatility was determined by reference to historical data of the Company’s shares over a period of 
time. No special features inherent to the options granted were incorporated into measurement of fair value.
Based on the above assumptions, the table below sets out the valuation for each tranche of options:

grant date expiry date

share  
price at 

grant date
exercise 

price
volatility 

(%)
Remaining 

option life
Risk free 

Rate
fair value 

per option

04/03/2015 16/12/2019 $0.180 $1.500 120.00% 2.46% 2.07% $1.500 

04/03/2015 18/12/2019 $0.180 $1.500 120.00% 2.47% 2.07% $1.500 

24/06/2015 30/06/2020 $0.245 $4.000 150.00% 3.00% 2.02% $2.170 

15/10/2015 16/11/2020 $0.140 $2.200 158.11% 3.38% 2.04% $1.280 

18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $0.115 $1.990 130.00% 3.59% 2.00% $0.810 

18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $0.115 $1.990 130.00% 3.59% 2.00% $0.860 

18/03/2016 01/02/2021 $0.115 $2.610 130.00% 3.59% 2.00% $0.870 

05/09/2016 05/09/2021 $0.105 $1.630 122.00% 4.19% 1.60% $0.840 

12/10/2016 17/10/2021 $0.098 $1.560 122.00% 4.30% 1.89% $0.780 

31/10/2016 01/11/2021 $0.090 $1.380 122.00% 4.34% 1.87% $0.720 

21/11/2016 23/11/2021 $0.092 $1.380 122.00% 4.40% 2.10% $0.730 

07/08/2017 07/08/2022 $0.430 $0.670 74.50% 4.00% 1.95% $0.206 

05/02/2018 05/02/2023 $0.500 $0.780 74.50% 3.00% 1.95% $0.200 

Note 38. sHaRe-based paymeNts (CoNtiNued)
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Note 39. settlemeNt of legal pRoCeediNgs 
On 22 December 2017 the consolidated entity reached an agreement with another ASX listed company, Noxopharm Limited, in 
relation to that company’s key asset, NOX66. Under this agreement, the consolidated entity has released Noxopharm Limited from 
any claims of ownership it believes it may have had of NOX66 or the IP and technology that underpins it. In return, the consolidated 
entity has received the following:

1)  5,970,714 ordinary shares in Noxopharm Limited, held under voluntary escrow until 14 June 2018 (value at date of 
settlement: $6,490,680); 

2)  3,000,000 unlisted options in Noxopharm Limited, with an exercise price of $0.80, expiring 18 January 2020, unable 
to be exercised prior to 18 July 2018 (value at date of settlement: $1,770,000); 

3)  extinguishment of certain convertible notes (book value: $136,000); and 
4) a cash payment of $165,000 (including GST) from Noxopharm Limited.
Items 1,2 and 4, totalling $8,410,680 net of GST, have been reflected in the profit and loss as ‘other income’ while item 3, 
representing $136,000, has been dealt with as a movement in equity.

diReCtoRs’ deClaRatioN
In the directors’ opinion:

•	 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

•	 the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements;

•	 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 
30 June 2018 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

•	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and

•	 at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group 
will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross 
guarantee described in note 35 to the financial statements.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr Iain Ross Dr James Garner
Chairman Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer

29 August 2018

Sydney
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Kazia Therapeutics Limited  

Report on the audit of the financial report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Kazia Therapeutics Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the Directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Material uncertainty related to going concern 
We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of $6,039,242 
during the year ended 30 June 2018, and had net operating cash outflows of $8,661,236. As stated in Note 2, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Key audit matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 
In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have determined the 
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Intangible asset impairment (Notes 2 & 15)  
The Company carries on its statement of financial position the 
Genentech Licensing Agreement which grants the Company 
the right to develop the GDC-0084 molecule. The asset is 
being amortised over the 15-year remaining life of the 
underlying patent.  
 
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets requires that an entity shall 
assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is 
any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the 
asset. 
 
Assessing whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired involves a high degree of judgement. 
 
This area is a key audit matter due to the complexities and 
high degree of judgement in assessing indicators for 
impairment. 
 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 obtaining an understanding of and evaluating 

management’s process and controls related to the 
assessment of the existence of impairment indicators; 

 reviewing and assessing management’s paper 
documenting its consideration of the existence of any 
impairment indicators; 

 considering each of the internal and external factors 
outlined by AASB 136 and assessing whether any 
indicators of impairment are present; and 

 assessing the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in the 
financial statements. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Settlement of legal proceedings (Notes 2, 13 & 39)  
During the 30 June 2018 financial year a legal dispute 
associated with Kazia Therapeutics Limited’s intellectual 
property was settled on the terms outlined in Note 39.  
 
The fair value of the consideration of $8.4M has been 
recorded as income related to the settlement of the legal 
proceedings.  
 
The shares and options received are considered material to 
the financial statements and have been recorded as available-
for-sale (AFS) and derivative financial assets, respectively, in 
accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.  
 
AASB 139 requires:  

 that AFS and derivative assets be recorded at fair 
value;  

 that gains and losses on AFS assets are recorded as 
other comprehensive income, subject to the 
existence of impairment losses; and  

 that gains and losses on derivative assets are 
recorded in profit or loss.  
 

The decline in fair value of the shares of $2.8M following their 
acquisition was assessed by management and it was 
determined that the decline in value represented an 
impairment loss and has been recorded as such in profit and 
loss in accordance with AASB 139.  
 
This area is a key audit matter due to the accounting for the 
transaction and subsequent measurement of financial assets 
being an area of high estimation uncertainty. 
 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
 reviewing the legal settlement documents to understand 

and verify the terms and conditions of settlement;  
 reviewing management’s documentation to support the 

accounting treatment of the legal settlement transaction; 
 reviewing management’s valuations of financial assets at 

settlement date and balance date, including an assessment 
of the work of management’s experts; 

 engaging our internal valuations experts to assess the 
reasonableness of the options valuation approach and the 
volatility used in the calculations performed by 
management and management’s experts; 

 reviewing management’s assessment of impairment of AFS 
assets; 

 evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
management's expert; and 

 reviewing relevant disclosures within the financial 
statements.  
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Recognition of R&D tax incentive (Notes 2, 6 & 10)  
Under the research and development (R&D) tax incentive 
scheme, the Company receives a 43.5% refundable tax offset 
of eligible expenditure if its turnover is less than $20 million 
per annum, provided it is not controlled by income tax exempt 
entities. A Registration of R&D Activities Application is filed 
with AusIndustry in the following financial year and, based on 
this filing, the Group receives the incentive in cash.  
 
Management engaged an R&D expert to perform a detailed 
review of the Group’s total R&D expenditure to determine the 
potential claim under the R&D tax incentive legislation. The 
receivable at year-end for the incentive was $2.2m. This 
represents an estimated claim for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 
June 2018. 
 
This area is a key audit matter due to the size of the 
receivable and because there is a degree of judgement and 
interpretation of the R&D tax legislation required by 
management to assess the eligibility of the R&D expenditure 
under the scheme. 
 
 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
 obtaining and documenting, through discussions with 

management, an understanding of the process to estimate 
the claim; 

 evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
management's expert; 

 utilising an internal R&D tax specialist in: 
o reviewing the methodology used by management for 

consistency with the R&D tax offset rules; and  
o considering the nature of the expenses against the 

eligibility criteria of the R&D tax incentive scheme to 
assess whether the expenses included in the estimate 
were likely to meet the eligibility criteria.   

 comparing the nature of the R&D expenditure included in 
the current year estimate to the prior year claim;  

 comparing the eligible expenditure used in the receivable 
calculation to the expenditure recorded in the general 
ledger;  

 considering the entity's history of successful claims; 
 inspecting copies of relevant correspondence with 

AusIndustry and the ATO related to the claims; and 
 assessing the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in the 

financial statements. 
 

 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.   
 
Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the financial report  
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 
 

Report on the remuneration report 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 7 to 14 of the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 
2018.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Kazia Therapeutics Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2018 complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

Responsibilities 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 
 
 
 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 

S M Coulton 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
 
Sydney, 29 August 2018 
 



D
irectors’ Report

N
otes to the Financial Statem

ents
Auditor’s Independence D

eclaration
Independent Auditor’s Report

Financial Statem
ents

Shareholder Inform
ation

 Annual Report 2018 67

sharehoLder InformatIon
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 28 August 2018.

dIstrIbutIon of equItabLe securItIes
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

range total holders
number 

of shares

1 - 1,000 3,286 917,240

1,001 - 5,000 1,083 2,763,326

5,001 - 10,000 284 2,167,645

10,001 - 100,000 363 10,286,485

100,001 Over 40 32,274,925

total 5,056 48,409,621

Holding less than a marketable parcel 3,335 969,190

equIty securIty hoLders
The names of the twenty largest quoted equity security holders are listed below:

units % of units

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 16,969,467 35.05

HISHENK PTY LTD 5,219,124 10.78

MR MICHAEL MIHRAN ABOLAKIAN + MRS NAIRY ABOLAKIAN + MR STEPHEN 
ABOLAKIAN <HISHENK PTY LTD SF A/C> 1,436,000 2.97

D & G BROWN INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 884,945 1.83

MR EVAN KNIGHT MORGAN + MRS CAROLYN MARY MORGAN 
<EVAN K MORGAN SUPER A/C> 520,000 1.07

EL CORONADO HOLDINGS 453,164 0.94

PHYTOSE CORPORATION PTY LTD <BOUNDARY ONE SUPER FUND A/C> 442,697 0.91

MISS MI OK CHONG 428,849 0.89

DR ANDREW HEATON 402,301 0.83

C & L JACKSON INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <JACKSON FAMILY S/FUND A/C> 397,217 0.82

PHYTOSE CORPORATION PTY LTD <BOUNDARYONE S/F A/C> 365,920 0.76

MRS ALISON LOUISE SUTERS + MR MARK GERARD SUTERS 316,174 0.65

GRANT SUPER FUND 2017 PTY LTD <GRANT SUPERFUND A/C> 302,826 0.63

MR MOHAMMED SHAHEED 276,876 0.57

VNA HOLDINGS PTY LTD 229,499 0.47

MR JOHN PETSAS 220,511 0.46

MR IAIN ROSS 220,000 0.45

YAT HING INVESTMENT PTY LTD <TANG FAMILY A/C> 190,000 0.39

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 189,899 0.39

DR PHILIP STUART ESNOUF 181,914 0.38

29,647,383 61.24
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substantIaL hoLders
Substantial holders of equity in the company are set out below: 

units % of units

HISHENK PTY LTD 5,219,124 10.78

MR MICHAEL MIHRAN ABOLAKIAN + MRS NAIRY ABOLAKIAN + MR STEPHEN 
ABOLAKIAN <HISHENK PTY LTD SF A/C> 1,436,000 2.97

6,655,124 13.75

VotIng rIghts
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

ordinary shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote.

There are no other classes of equity securities.



Directors
Mr Iain Ross 
Mr Bryce Carmine 
Mr Steven Coffey 
Dr James Garner

company secretary
Ms Kate Hill

registereD office
Three International Towers, 
Level 24 
300 Barangaroo Avenue  
Sydney NSW 2000

principal place of business
Three International Towers, 
Level 24 
300 Barangaroo Avenue  
Sydney NSW 2000

share register
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Level 4 
60 Carrington Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Tel: 1300 787 272

auDitor
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Level 17 
383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

stock exchange listing
Kazia Therapeutics Limited ordinary shares are listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code: KZA)

Kazia Therapeutics Limited’s ordinary shares trade in the 
United States in the form of ADRs on the NASDAQ Capital 
Market (NASDAQ code: KZIA). At year end each ADR 
represents ten ordinary Kazia shares. 

Kazia Therapeutics Limited options are listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code KZAO)

Website
www.kaziatherapeutics.com

corporate Directory
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Rules 4.7.3 and 4.10.31 

Appendix 4G 

Key to Disclosures 
Corporate Governance Council Principles and Recommendations 

Introduced 01/07/14  Amended 02/11/15 

Name of entity 

Kazia Therapeutics Limited 

ABN / ARBN  Financial year ended: 

37 063 259 754  30 June 2018 

 

Our corporate governance statement2 for the above period above can be found at:3 

☐ These pages of our annual report:  

X This URL on our website:  

The Corporate Governance Statement is accurate and up to date as at [insert effective date of 
statement] and has been approved by the board. 

The annexure includes a key to where our corporate governance disclosures can be located. 

Date: 8 October 2018 

Name of Director or Secretary authorising 
lodgement: 

Kate Hill, Company Secretary 

 

                                                      

1 Under Listing Rule 4.7.3, an entity must lodge with ASX a completed Appendix 4G at the same time as it lodges its annual 

report with ASX. 

Listing Rule 4.10.3 requires an entity that is included in the official list as an ASX Listing to include in its annual report either a 
corporate governance statement that meets the requirements of that rule or the URL of the page on its website where such a 
statement is located. The corporate governance statement must disclose the extent to which the entity has followed the 
recommendations set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council during the reporting period. If the entity has not followed a 
recommendation for any part of the reporting period, its corporate governance statement must separately identify that 
recommendation and the period during which it was not followed and state its reasons for not following the recommendation and 
what (if any) alternative governance practices it adopted in lieu of the recommendation during that period. 

Under Listing Rule 4.7.4, if an entity chooses to include its corporate governance statement on its website rather than in its 
annual report, it must lodge a copy of the corporate governance statement with ASX at the same time as it lodges its annual 
report with ASX. The corporate governance statement must be current as at the effective date specified in that statement for the 
purposes of rule 4.10.3. 

2 “Corporate governance statement” is defined in Listing Rule 19.12 to mean the statement referred to in Listing Rule 4.10.3 

which discloses the extent to which an entity has followed the recommendations set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
during a particular reporting period. 

3 Mark whichever option is correct and then complete the page number(s) of the annual report, or the URL of the web page, 

where the entity’s corporate governance statement can be found. You can, if you wish, delete the option which is not applicable. 

Throughout this form, where you are given two or more options to select, you can, if you wish, delete any option which is not 
applicable and just retain the option that is applicable. If you select an option that includes “OR” at the end of the selection and 
you delete the other options, you can also, if you wish, delete the “OR” at the end of the selection. 
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ANNEXURE – KEY TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 
 

Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

PRINCIPLE 1 – LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 

1.1 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its board and 
management; and 

(b) those matters 
expressly reserved to 
the board and those 
delegated to 
management. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐ at [insert location] 

… and information about the respective roles and responsibilities of 
our board and management (including those matters expressly 
reserved to the board and those delegated to management): 

☐ at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

1.2 A listed entity should: 

(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or 
putting forward to security holders a candidate for election, 
as a director; and 

(b) provide security holders with all material information in its 
possession relevant to a decision on whether or not to elect 
or re-elect a director. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director 
and senior executive setting out the terms of their appointment. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐ we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

1.4 The company secretary of a listed entity should be accountable 
directly to the board, through the chair, on all matters to do with the 
proper functioning of the board. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

                                                      

4 If you have followed all of the Council’s recommendations in full for the whole of the period above, you can, if you wish, delete this column from the form and re-format it. 
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

1.5 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the 
board or a relevant committee of the board to set 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and to 
assess annually both the objectives and the entity’s progress 
in achieving them; 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and 

(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by 
the board or a relevant committee of the board in accordance 
with the entity’s diversity policy and its progress towards 
achieving them and either: 

(1) the respective proportions of men and women on the 
board, in senior executive positions and across the 
whole organisation (including how the entity has defined 
“senior executive” for these purposes); or 

(2) if the entity is a “relevant employer” under the Workplace 
Gender Equality Act, the entity’s most recent “Gender 
Equality Indicators”, as defined in and published under 
that Act. 

… the fact that we have a diversity policy that complies with 
paragraph (a): 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and a copy of our diversity policy or a summary of it: 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by 
the board or a relevant committee of the board in accordance with our 
diversity policy and our progress towards achieving them: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and the information referred to in paragraphs (c)(1) or (2): 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

x  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

1.6 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the 
performance of the board, its committees and individual 
directors; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process. 

… the evaluation process referred to in paragraph (a): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and the information referred to in paragraph (b): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

1.7 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the 
performance of its senior executives; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process. 

… the evaluation process referred to in paragraph (a): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and the information referred to in paragraph (b): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

PRINCIPLE 2 - STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE 

2.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of 
times the committee met throughout the period and 
the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, disclose that 
fact and the processes it employs to address board 
succession issues and to ensure that the board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience, 
independence and diversity to enable it to discharge its 
duties and responsibilities effectively. 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (a):] 

… the fact that we have a nomination committee that complies with 
paragraphs (1) and (2): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at  

… and a copy of the charter of the committee: 

☐  at 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Remu
neration_and_Nominations_Committee_charter.pdf 

… and the information referred to in paragraphs (4) and (5): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (b):] 

… the fact that we do not have a nomination committee and the 
processes we employ to address board succession issues and to 
ensure that the board has the appropriate balance of skills, 
knowledge, experience, independence and diversity to enable it to 
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix 
setting out the mix of skills and diversity that the board currently 
has or is looking to achieve in its membership. 

… our board skills matrix: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

x  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Remuneration_and_Nominations_Committee_charter.pdf
https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Remuneration_and_Nominations_Committee_charter.pdf
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be 
independent directors; 

(b) if a director has an interest, position, association or 
relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 but the board 
is of the opinion that it does not compromise the 
independence of the director, the nature of the interest, 
position, association or relationship in question and an 
explanation of why the board is of that opinion; and 

(c) the length of service of each director. 

… the names of the directors considered by the board to be 
independent directors: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and, where applicable, the information referred to in paragraph (b): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and the length of service of each director: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

2.4 A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent 
directors. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐ we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent 
director and, in particular, should not be the same person as the 
CEO of the entity. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐ we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors 
and provide appropriate professional development opportunities 
for directors to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge 
needed to perform their role as directors effectively. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

PRINCIPLE 3 – ACT ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

3.1 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives 
and employees; and 

(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

… our code of conduct or a summary of it: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

PRINCIPLE 4 – SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING 

4.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have an audit committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, all of whom are non-
executive directors and a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, who is not the 
chair of the board, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the relevant qualifications and experience of the 
members of the committee; and 

(5) in relation to each reporting period, the number of 
times the committee met throughout the period and 
the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose that fact 
and the processes it employs that independently verify and 
safeguard the integrity of its corporate reporting, including 
the processes for the appointment and removal of the 
external auditor and the rotation of the audit engagement 
partner. 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (a):] 

… the fact that we have an audit committee that complies with 
paragraphs (1) and (2): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and a copy of the charter of the committee: 

☐  at 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Audit_
risk_and_governance_committee_charter.pdf 

 

… and the information referred to in paragraphs (4) and (5): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (b):] 

… the fact that we do not have an audit committee and the processes 
we employ that independently verify and safeguard the integrity of our 
corporate reporting, including the processes for the appointment and 
removal of the external auditor and the rotation of the audit 
engagement partner: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

4.2 The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s 
financial statements for a financial period, receive from its CEO 
and CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the financial records 
of the entity have been properly maintained and that the financial 
statements comply with the appropriate accounting standards 
and give a true and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed 
on the basis of a sound system of risk management and internal 
control which is operating effectively. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Audit_risk_and_governance_committee_charter.pdf
https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Audit_risk_and_governance_committee_charter.pdf
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

4.3 A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its external 
auditor attends its AGM and is available to answer questions 
from security holders relevant to the audit. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity that does not hold an 

annual general meeting and this recommendation is therefore 
not applicable 

PRINCIPLE 5 – MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 

5.1 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous 
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

… our continuous disclosure compliance policy or a summary of it: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

PRINCIPLE 6 – RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself and its 
governance to investors via its website. 

… information about us and our governance on our website: 

☐  at 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/aboutus/corporategovernanc
e 

 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations 
program to facilitate effective two-way communication with 
investors. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in 
place to facilitate and encourage participation at meetings of 
security holders. 

… our policies and processes for facilitating and encouraging 
participation at meetings of security holders: 

x in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity that does not hold 

periodic meetings of security holders and this recommendation 
is therefore not applicable 

6.4 A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive 
communications from, and send communications to, the entity 
and its security registry electronically. 

… the fact that we follow this recommendation: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/aboutus/corporategovernance
https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/aboutus/corporategovernance
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

PRINCIPLE 7 – RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 

7.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each of 
which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of 
times the committee met throughout the period and 
the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that 
satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework. 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (a):] 

… the fact that we have a committee or committees to oversee risk 
that comply with paragraphs (1) and (2): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and a copy of the charter of the committee: 

☐  at 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Audit_
risk_and_governance_committee_charter.pdf 

 

… and the information referred to in paragraphs (4) and (5): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (b):] 

… the fact that we do not have a risk committee or committees that 
satisfy (a) and the processes we employ for overseeing our risk 
management framework: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

7.2 The board or a committee of the board should: 

(a) review the entity’s risk management framework at least 
annually to satisfy itself that it continues to be sound; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such 
a review has taken place. 

… the fact that board or a committee of the board reviews the entity’s 
risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it 
continues to be sound: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and that such a review has taken place in the reporting period 
covered by this Appendix 4G: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

x  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement – in respect of partial compliance. 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Audit_risk_and_governance_committee_charter.pdf
https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Audit_risk_and_governance_committee_charter.pdf
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is 
structured and what role it performs; or 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and 
the processes it employs for evaluating and continually 
improving the effectiveness of its risk management and 
internal control processes. 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (a):] 

… how our internal audit function is structured and what role it 
performs: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (b):] 

… the fact that we do not have an internal audit function and the 
processes we employ for evaluating and continually improving the 
effectiveness of our risk management and internal control processes: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material 
exposure to economic, environmental and social sustainability 
risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those 
risks. 

… whether we have any material exposure to economic, 
environmental and social sustainability risks and, if we do, how we 
manage or intend to manage those risks: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

PRINCIPLE 8 – REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

8.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a remuneration committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of 
times the committee met throughout the period and 
the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, disclose that 
fact and the processes it employs for setting the level and 
composition of remuneration for directors and senior 
executives and ensuring that such remuneration is 
appropriate and not excessive. 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (a):] 

… the fact that we have a remuneration committee that complies with 
paragraphs (1) and (2): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

… and a copy of the charter of the committee: 

☐  at 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Remu
neration_and_Nominations_Committee_charter.pdf 

… and the information referred to in paragraphs (4) and (5): 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

[If the entity complies with paragraph (b):] 

… the fact that we do not have a remuneration committee and the 
processes we employ for setting the level and composition of 
remuneration for directors and senior executives and ensuring that 
such remuneration is appropriate and not excessive: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation is 

therefore not applicable 

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and 
practices regarding the remuneration of non-executive directors 
and the remuneration of executive directors and other senior 
executives. 

… separately our remuneration policies and practices regarding the 
remuneration of non-executive directors and the remuneration of 
executive directors and other senior executives: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Remuneration_and_Nominations_Committee_charter.pdf
https://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/UserFiles/documents/Remuneration_and_Nominations_Committee_charter.pdf
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Corporate Governance Council recommendation We have followed the recommendation in full for the whole of the 
period above. We have disclosed … 

We have NOT followed the recommendation in full for the whole 

of the period above. We have disclosed …4 

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration scheme 
should: 

(a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to 
enter into transactions (whether through the use of 
derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

… our policy on this issue or a summary of it: 

x  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement OR 

☐  w e do not have an equity-based remuneration scheme and this 

recommendation is therefore not applicable OR 

☐  we are an externally managed entity and this recommendation 

is therefore not applicable 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES APPLICABLE TO EXTERNALLY MANAGED LISTED ENTITIES 

- Alternative to Recommendation 1.1 for externally managed listed 
entities: 

The responsible entity of an externally managed listed entity 
should disclose: 

(a) the arrangements between the responsible entity and the 
listed entity for managing the affairs of the listed entity; 

(b) the role and responsibility of the board of the responsible 
entity for overseeing those arrangements. 

… the information referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b): 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

- Alternative to Recommendations 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3 for externally 
managed listed entities: 

An externally managed listed entity should clearly disclose the 
terms governing the remuneration of the manager. 

… the terms governing our remuneration as manager of the entity: 

☐  in our Corporate Governance Statement OR 

☐  at [insert location] 

☐  an explanation why that is so in our Corporate Governance 

Statement 

 



 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Kazia Therapeutics Limited – Corporate Governance Statement for the year ended 30 
June 2018 
 
As at 8 October 2018 
 
The Board is responsible for the corporate governance of Kazia Therapeutics Limited (“Kazia” or “the 
Company”), including adopting policies and procedures to ensure the Kazia Directors, management 
and employees fulfil their functions to the standards and in accordance with the principles set out in 
this statement. 
 
The Board’s corporate governance policies and practices substantially comply with the 
recommendations in the 3rd edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s “Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations” (ASX recommendations).  Where Kazia’s practices 
depart from the ASX Recommendations, Kazia will work towards compliance, where appropriate, 
given the Company’s operations. 
 
Kazia’s main policies and practices and the extent of their compliance with ASX recommendations are 
summarised below, and where a different approach has been adopted, the reasons for that. 
 
The documents that are underlined in this section are available on the Company’s website at 
http://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/corporate_governance.html 
 
 
 
Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight. 
 
A listed entity should establish and disclose the respective roles and responsibilities of its Board and 
management and how their performance is monitored and evaluated. 
 

1.1 A listed entity should disclose: 
a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its Board and management; and 
b) those matters expressly reserved to the Board and those delegated to management.  

 
The Company’s Board Charter sets out the role, duties and responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors. It is available on the Company’s website.   
 
Complies 
 

 

1.2 A listed entity should: 
a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or putting forward to security 

holders a candidate for election, as a Director; and  
c) provide security holders with all material information in its possession relevant to a decision 

on whether or not to elect or re-elect a Director.  
 
The Company conducts appropriate due diligence prior to putting forward a person to be appointed 
as a Director.  In addition, the Company provides all material information to its shareholders via the 
explanatory statement included in the Notice of Meeting prior to its Annual General Meeting.  
 
Complies 
 

  
  

http://www.kaziatherapeutics.com/corporate_governance.html


 

 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with each Director and senior executive setting 
out the terms of their appointment.  

 
When appointing a new Director, the Company requires that the newly appointed Director signs a 
written agreement setting out the terms of his/her appointment.  
 
Complies 
 

 

1.4 The Company Secretary of a listed entity should be accountable directly to the Board, through 
the chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the Board.  

 
The Board has access to the Company Secretary (who is accountable directly to the Board, 
through the chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the Board) and has procedures 
for the provision of information, including requests for additional information. Disclosure is included 
in the Board charter, available on the Company’s website.  
 
Complies 
 

 

1.5 A listed entity should: 
a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the Board or a relevant Committee 

of the Board to set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and to assess 
annually both the objectives and the entity’s progress in achieving them; 

b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and 
c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the measurable objectives for achieving 

gender diversity set by the Board or a relevant Committee of the Board in accordance with 
the entity’s diversity policy and its progress towards achieving them, and either: 

i. the respective proportions of men and women on the Board, in senior executive 
positions and across the whole organisation (including how the entity has defined 
“senior executive” for these purposes); or 

ii. If the entity is a “relevant employer” under the Workplace Gender Equality Act, the 
entity’s most recent “Gender Equality Indicators”, as defined in and published under 
that Act. 

 
The Company does not have a diversity policy in place with measurable objectives. The Company 
recognises that a diverse and inclusive workforce is not only good for our employees, it is also 
good for our business, including with respect to gender, ethnicity, geographical location, personal 
attributes and age. However, due to the current size of the Company, a Diversity Policy and 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity have not been established. The Board will 
seek to establish a Diversity Policy as the Company grows. 
 
The proportion of women employees in the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2018 are as follows: 
Women on the Board - 0% 
Women in Management position –33%  
Women in the Company - 33%  
 
Does not comply 
   

 

1.6 A listed entity should: 
a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the board, its 

committees and individual directors; and 
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was 

undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that process.  
 
The Board undertakes an annual review of its performance. The Chairman conducts individual 
reviews of each Director every year. The performance of the Chairman is reviewed collectively by 
the Directors. 
 



 

 

The Board evaluated the performance of its committees in the prior financial year and, following 
this review, restructured all the committees, their functions and memberships.  
 
A Board performance review was carried out during the year.  
 
Complies 
 

 

1.7 A listed entity should: 
a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of its senior 

executives; and 
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was 

undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that process.  
 
The Board undertakes an annual review and assessment of the Company’s executive 
management.  Formal performance and salary review occurs once a year for the senior executives 
by the Remuneration Committee.  A review was carried out during the year.  
 
Complies 
 

 
 
 
  
Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value 
 
 
A listed entity should have a Board of an appropriate size, composition, skills and commitment to 
enable it to discharge its duties effectively. 
 

2.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 
a)   have a Nomination Committee which: 
 

i. has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent Directors; and 
ii. is chaired by an independent Director, 

and disclose: 
iii. the charter of the Committee; 
iv. the members of the Committee; and 
v. as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the Committee met throughout 

the period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 
 
b) if it does not have a Nomination Committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs to 

address Board succession issues and to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of 
skills, knowledge, experience, independence and diversity to enable it to discharge its duties 
and responsibilities effectively.  

 

The Company has a Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Board may, from time 
to time, perform directly the role of the Nomination Committee. 
 

When evaluating potential director nominees, the Board or the committee consider the listing 
requirements of the ASX as well as a potential nominee's personal and professional integrity, 
experience in corporate management, time available for service, experience in the Company's 
industry, global business and social perspective, experience as a board member of another publicly-
held Company, ability to make independent analytical inquiries and practical business judgment. 
The Board and the committee strive to nominate directors with a variety of complementary skills so 
that, as a group, the Board will possess the appropriate talent, skills, and expertise to oversee the 
Company's business. 

After potential nominees are evaluated, the Directors collectively assess a potential nomination to 
the Board. 



 

 

The Board may retain, at the Company's expense, any independent search firm, experts or 
advisors that it believes are appropriate in connection with the nomination process. 
 
Complies 
 

 
 

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a Board skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and 
diversity that the Board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership.  
 
The Board currently does not have Board skill matrix that is available to the public. However, the 
Board has undertaken a review of the mix of skills and experience of the Board in light of the 
Company’s principal activities and direction and has considered diversity in succession planning. 
The Board considers the current mix of skills and experience of members of the Board and its 
senior management is sufficient to meet the requirements of the Company.  
 
Does not comply 
 

 

2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 
a) the names of the Directors considered by the Board to be independent Directors; 
b) if a Director has an interest, position, association or relationship of the type described in 

Box 2.3 but the Board is of the opinion that it does not compromise the independence of 
the Director, the nature of the interest, position, association or relationship in question and 
an explanation of why the Board is of that opinion; and  

c) the length of service of each Director.  
 
The Directors are: 

• Mr Bryce Carmine, an independent Non-Executive Director, appointed on 3 June 2015. 

• Mr Steven Coffey, an independent Non-Executive Director, appointed on 6 November 
2012. 

• Mr Iain Ross, an independent Non-Executive Director, appointed on 22 July 2015.  

• Dr James Garner, an Executive Director, appointed on 5 February 2016. Dr Garner is also 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  

 
Complies 
 

 
 
 
  

2.4 A majority of the Board of a listed entity should be independent Directors.  
 
The majority of Directors on the Board are independent. 
 
The independent Directors are: 

• Mr Bryce Carmine; 

• Mr Steven Coffey; and 

• Mr Iain Ross.  
 
Complies 
 

 

2.5 The Chair of the Board of a listed entity should be an independent Director and, in particular, 
should not be the same person as the CEO of the entity.  

 
 
Mr Iain Ross was appointed as Chairman on 8 June 2017. He has been an independent director 
throughout his period as Chairman. 



 

 

 
Complies 
 

 
  

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting new Directors and provide appropriate 
professional development opportunities for Directors to develop and maintain the skills and 
knowledge needed to perform their role as Directors effectively.  

 
The Board provides an appropriate induction program for new Directors, which includes onsite 
visits, meeting with other Directors, introduction to senior executives and management team, 
presentation of the Company’s scientific programs. Directors have the opportunity for professional 
development through programs operated by the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  
 
Complies 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Principle 3: Act ethically and responsibly 
 
A listed entity should act ethically and responsibly. 
 

3.1 A listed entity should: 
a) have a code of conduct for its Directors, senior executives and employees; and 
b) disclose that code or a summary of it.  

 
The Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the ‘Code’). The Code 
establishes a clear set of values that emphasise a culture encompassing strong corporate 
governance, sound business practices and good ethical conduct. The Code confirms the 
Company’s belief in treating all individuals with respect and recognises that different skills and 
diversity are essential to enrich the Company’s perspective, improve corporate performance, 
increase shareholder value and maximise the achievement and goals of the Company. The Code 
of Business Conduct Ethics is available on the Company’s website.  
 
Under the Company's Securities Trading Policy, Directors, officers and employees of the Company 
should not trade in the Company’s securities when in possession of price sensitive information that 
is not generally available to the market. 
 
Directors and senior management are likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive 
information concerning the Company by virtue of their position within the Company. Therefore 
those persons are restricted from dealing in the Company’s securities in the period from year end 
or half year end until the business day after the release of full year or half year results.  Similarly, 
those persons are restricted from trading in the 28 day period prior to the Company’s AGM and a 
similar period prior to the lodgement of a prospectus with ASX. 
 
In addition, Directors, officers and employees can only deal in the Company’s securities after 
having first obtained clearance from the Company and must notify the Company Secretary in a 
timely manner once a trade has occurred. 
 
Complies 
 

 
 
 
  



 

 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting 
 
A listed entity should have formal and rigorous processes that independently verify and safeguard the 
integrity of its corporate reporting. 
 

4.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 
a) have an  Audit Committee which: 

i. has at least three members, all of whom are non-executive Directors and a majority of 
whom are independent Directors; and 

ii. is chaired by an independent Director, who is not the chair of the Board; 
and disclose: 

iii. the charter of the Committee; 
iv. the relevant qualifications and experience of the members of the Committee; and 
v. in relation to each reporting period, the number of times the Committee met throughout 

the period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or  
 

b) if it does not have an Audit Committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs that 
independently verify and safeguard the integrity of its corporate reporting, including the 
processes for the appointment and removal of the external auditor and the rotation of the 
audit engagement partner. 

 
The Board has established an Audit, Risk and Governance Committee which operates under an 
Audit, Risk and Governance Committee Charter to focus on issues relevant to the integrity of the 
Company’s financial reporting. The Audit, Risk and Governance Committee Charter, and 
information on procedures for the selection and appointment of the external auditor, and for the 
rotation of the external audit engagement partner, which is determined by the Audit, Risk and 
Governance Committee, is available on the Company’s website. 
 
The members of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee are appointed by the Board and 
recommendations from the Committee are presented to the Board for further discussion and 
resolution. The members of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee are independent non-
executive Directors and the Chair of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee is an independent 
non-executive Director. 
 
The Audit, Risk and Governance Committee meets as required. The members of the committee 
and the number of meetings held during the last financial year is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
The external auditor, Grant Thornton, has declared its independence to the Board through its 
representations to the committee and provision of its Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the 
Board, stating that there have been no contraventions of auditor independence requirements as set 
out in the Corporations Act or any auditors’ professional code.  
 
Complies 
 

 
 

4.2 The Board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s financial statements for a 
financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the financial 
records of the entity have been properly maintained and that the financial statements comply with 
the appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system of 
risk management and internal control which is operating effectively.  
 
The Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary and Director of Finance and Administration state 
in writing to the Board each reporting period that the Company’s financial reports present a true 
and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition and operational results, 
and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The statements from the Chief 
Executive Officer, Company Secretary and Director of Finance and Administration are based on a 
formal sign off framework established throughout the Company and reviewed by the Audit 
Committee as part of the six-monthly financial reporting process. 
 



 

 

Complies 
 

 

4.3 A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its external auditor attends its AGM and is 
available to answer questions from security holders relevant to the audit.  
 
The engagement partner (or his or her representative) of the Company’s external auditor, Grant 
Thornton, attends the Company’s annual general meetings and is available to answer questions 
from shareholders about the audit. The Chairman advises the shareholders of this at the 
commencement of each annual general meeting.  
 
Complies 
 

   
 
 
 
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
A listed entity should make timely and balanced disclosure of all matters concerning it that a 
reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price or value of its securities. 
 

5.1 A listed entity should: 
a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure obligations under the 

Listing Rules; and 
b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.  
 

The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy, to ensure that it complies with the 
continuous disclosure regime under the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act 2001. 
The policy is available on the Company’s website. 
 
The Company Secretary is responsible for communications with the Australian Securities 
Exchange (ASX) including responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure 
requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing information going to the ASX, shareholders 
and other interested parties.  
 
Complies 
 

 
 
Principle 6: Respect the rights of security holders 
  
A listed entity should respect the rights of its security holders by providing them with appropriate 
information and facilities to allow them to exercise those rights effectively. 
 

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance to investors via its 
website.  
 
The Company publishes all relevant information about itself, its governance, its corporate actions 
and its operations on its website. The Company also invites the general public to subscribe to the 
Company newsletter, which is designed to keep investors and other stakeholders abreast of the 
latest relevant information.  
 
Complies 
 

 

6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations program to facilitate effective 
two-way communication with investors. In the light of its size and resources, the Company has 
engaged an external partner to implement and manage its investor relation program and public 
relations. 



 

 

 
The Company has disclosed on its website a Shareholder Communications Policy, relevant to all 
the Company’s stakeholders, including its security holders. The policy sets out the Company’s 
commitments to its shareholders regarding the communication of information.  
 
Complies 
 

 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate and 
encourage participation at meetings of security holders.  
 
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the Annual General Meeting (AGM) either in person 
or by other means if they are not able to physically attend. Shareholders who do attend in person 
are encouraged to ask questions at the meeting. Shareholders who cannot attend are encouraged 
to render their votes by proxy, and the Company has commenced the practice of engaging proxy 
solicitation firms to communicate directly with shareholders and encourage them to register their 
vote via proxy, thereby increasing voting participation at the 2017 AGM. Shareholders are also 
encouraged to register questions prior to any general meeting by contacting the Company directly, 
and also to view the CEO update which is filmed and posted on the Company’s website after the 
meeting. 
 
Complies 
 

 

6.4 A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security registry electronically.  
 
The Company provides its security holders with the ability to use electronic communication, 
whether it is to vote at a general meeting, receive various documentation, receive Company update 
or contact its representatives. This practise is encouraged. 
 
Complies 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 
 
A listed entity should establish a sound risk management framework and periodically review the 
effectiveness of that framework. 
 

7.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 
a) have a Committee or Committees to oversee risk, each of which: 

i. has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent Directors; and 
ii. is chaired by an independent Director, 

a) and disclose:  
iii. the charter of the Committee; 
iv. the members of the Committee; and 
v. as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the Committee met 

throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; 
or 

b) if it does not have a risk Committee or Committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact 
and the processes it employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management framework.  

 
The Board has established an Audit Risk and Governance Committee which operates under an 
Audit, Risk and Governance Committee Charter to focus on managing risk and to review, discuss 
and approve the corporate governance policies. However, the ultimate responsibility for risk 
oversight and risk management rests with the Board. The Audit, Risk and Governance Committee 



 

 

Charter is available on the Company’s website. The members of the committee are appointed by 
the Board and recommendations from the committee are presented to the Board for further 
discussion and resolution.  
 
The members of the Risk and Governance Committee are independent non-executive Directors 
and the Chair of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee is an independent non-executive 
Director. The members of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee and the number of meetings 
held during the last financial year is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
 
Complies 
 

 

7.2 The Board or a Committee of the Board should: 
a) review the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it 

continues to be sound; and 
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such a review has taken place. 

  
The Company has identified key risks within the business. In the ordinary course of business, 
management monitor and manage these risks. Key operational and financial risks are presented to 
and reviewed by the Board periodically. 
 
Senior executives report to the Directors at each meeting of the Board as to the risks that have 
been identified, how they are handled or mitigated and the evolution of such risk as the Company 
continues to operate. 
 
The identification, assessment and review process takes place at each board meeting throughout 
the reporting period. The Board will seek to establish a formal risk management framework as the 
Company grows. 
  
Partially Complies 
 

 

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 
a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs; 

or; 
b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for 

evaluating and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal 
control processes.  
 

Due to its size and resources, the Company does not have a dedicated internal audit function. 
However, it utilises internal and external processes in lieu of a dedicated internal audit program. 
 
A number of different approaches are utilised in that respect, such as: 

• Use of peer reviews, whether internal and external; 
• Engagement of highly qualified advisory panel (currently the Scientific Advisory Board); 
• Engagement of external experts such as legal and accounting firms to review 

compliance of the Company’s operations and reporting processes; 
• Use of external audit firms to review international financial reporting;  
• Internal fraud control processes via policies (such as the code of conduct and ethics 

and the securities trading policy).  
 
Complies 
 

 

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, environmental 
and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks.
  

The Company has embraced responsibility for the Company's actions and encourages a positive 
impact through its activities on the environment, employees, communities and stakeholders. 



 

 

Due to its size, the Company’s exposure to economic, environmental and social sustainability risks 
is very low and cannot be considered as material.  
 
Complies 
 

 
 
  
Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
A listed entity should pay Director remuneration sufficient to attract and retain high quality Directors 
and design its executive remuneration to attract, retain and motivate high quality senior executives 
and to align their interests with the creation of value for security holders. 
 

8.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 
a) have a Remuneration Committee which: 

i. has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent Directors; and 
ii. is chaired by an independent Director, 

and disclose: 
iii. the charter of the Committee; 
iv. the members of the Committee; and 
v. as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the Committee met 

throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

b) if it does not have a Remuneration Committee, disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs for setting the level and composition of remuneration for Directors and senior 
executives and ensuring that such remuneration is appropriate and not excessive.  

 
The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee and has adopted a 
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Charter. This Charter is available on the Company’s 
website. The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and the number of 
meetings held during the last financial year is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are in majority independent non-
executive Directors and the Chair of the Remuneration Committee is a non-executive Director. 
The Company complies with the guidelines for executive remuneration packages and Non-
Executive Director remuneration. The remuneration structure has been disclosed in the 
remuneration report, contained within the Directors’ report. No senior executive is involved directly 
in deciding his or her own remuneration. The Company does not have any schemes for retirement 
benefits other than superannuation for Non-Executive Directors. The Directors receive 
superannuation payments included in their Directors’ fee, as disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
 
Complies 
 

 

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the remuneration 
of non-executive Directors and the remuneration of executive Directors and other senior 
executives. 
 
The Company discloses its policies and practices in relation to the remuneration of non-executive 
Directors and the remuneration of executive Directors and other executive Directors and the 
remuneration of executive Directors and other senior executives. senior executives in the 
Remuneration Report included in the Company’s Annual Report.  
 
Complies 
 

 

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity- based remuneration scheme should: 
a) Have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions (whether 

through the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of participating in 
the scheme; and 



 

 

 
b) Disclose that policy or a summary of it.  

 
The Shareholders re-approved the Employee Share Options Scheme at the Annual General 
Meeting on 15 November 2017.  This Scheme applies to the Company’s employees but excludes 
Directors.  An extensive summary of the Scheme was disclosed to the market in the Notice of 
Meeting preceding the General Meeting. 
 
The Scheme does not allow those who are granted options from entering into arrangements that 
limit their exposure to share price decreases in relation to unvested options. 
  
Complies 
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